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10.7% 
In 2012 AP3 generated a return of 10.7%  In 
the last 10 years AP3 has generated an average 
annual nominal return of 6.7%. That corrre-
sponded to a real return of 5.3% per annum, 
exceeding our target of a 4% real return.  

3,788
In 2012 AP3 paid out SEK 3,788 million to 
cover a deficit in the pension system.

AP3 in bRief
AP3 is one of five so-called buffer funds within the Swedish national pension 
system. Together, the buffer funds hold around 10% of total pension system 
assets. AP3 is tasked by the Swedish Parliament with generating maximum pos-
sible benefit for the income pension system by managing its pension capital so 
as to deliver strong investment returns at a low level of risk. AP3 has twin roles 
in the pension system system: serving as a buffer when inflows and outflows 
cause imbalances, and promoting the overall financial stability of the system.  

Targets 
  Generate an average real return (adjusted for inflation) of 4% per annum 

over time.

  Achieve high cost-effectiveness in our asset management.  

Government pension fund 
AP3 is a state-owned pension fund with a government-appointed board of 
 directors. The Fund is more independent than most government entities 
because, like the other AP funds, we are regulated solely by statute and not  
by government directives. The Ministry of Finance reviews the AP funds on  
an annual basis.

investments  
AP3 aims to achieve its target of a 4% real return over time by investing in a 
 diversified global portfolio of listed and unlisted assets. As of 31 December 2012, 
the portfolio had a market value of SEK 232,956 million.  

 Key figures

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Fund capital at 31 Dec, SEK bn 233.0 214.1 220.8 206.5 181.0

Net flows to/from pension system, SEK bn -3.8 -1.2 -4.0 -3.9 0.9

Profit/loss for the year, SEK bn 22.6 -5.5 18.3 29.4 -44.8

Return before expenses, % 10.7 -2.4 9.1 16.4 -19.7

Return after expenses, % 10.7 -2.5 9.0 16.3 -19.8

Operating expenses + commission expenses ratio, % 0.14 0.11 0.14 0.17 0.14

Operating expenses ratio, % 0.08 0.07 0.07 0.08 0.07

22,638 
AP3’s return in 2012 of SEK 22,638 million 
corresponded to 10.7% after expenses.

232,956
At year-end, the AP3 portfolio had a value of 
SEK 232,956 million.



THe yeAR in bRief
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THe yeAR in bRief

  Continued market concern over the debt crisis in 
southern europe, rising fears over a budgetary crash 
in America and weakness in world economic trends 
provided the backdrop to 2012. Yet despite the weaker 
economic climate, most financial assets rose in value 
during the year.

  AP3 recorded a profit of SEK 22,638 million (loss: 5,483) 
in 2012. 

  The total return was 10.7% before expenses and 10.7% 
after expenses. Equities were the largest single contribu-
tor, accounting for 8.8 percentage points of total return. 

  Fund capital stood at SEK 232,956 million at year-end, up 
SEK 18,850 million from the prior year. The figure includes 
payments of SEK 3,788 million to the pension system.

  In the 10 years from 2003 to 2012 AP3 generated a nomi-
nal annual return of 6.7%, outpacing the benchmark 
income index that is used to keep pension credits in line 
with inflation and which rose by 3.5% during the period.

  The annual real return (adjusted for inflation) was 5.3% 
from 2003 to 2012, exceeding the Fund’s target of a 4% 
real return over time.
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2012 – A STROnG yeAR in An UnceRTAin WORLD

AP3 posted a return of SEK 22.6 billion in 2012, lifting real return in the last 10 years to an annual average 
of 5.3% and putting us well on track in our mission to generate maximum benefit for the Swedish pension 
system.  

Having closed the books on 2012, we can look back on a 
year in which we secured a strong increase in the value of 
our portfolio and recorded an overall return of SEK 22.6 
billion. We comfortably exceeded our targets in absolute 
return strategies and actively generated a surplus that more 
than covered our portfolio management costs. Fund capital 
rose to a new record of SEK 233 billion, despite payments 
of approxi mately SEK 13 billion since 2009 to help cover the 
deficit in the national pension system. The figures show that 
AP3 has made a positive real contribution to the pension sys-
tem since inception. Fund capital in that time has increased 
by a nominal annual average of 4%, while the income index 
– the benchmark for keeping pensions in line with inflation 
– has risen by 3.2%. Moreover, in the last decade we have 
generated an annual average return of 5.3%, exceeding our 
target of a 4% real return over time. 

Renewed appetite for risk
The last 12 months were eventful both for AP3 and the 
market in general. the year began amid palpable market 
nervousness in the wake of a very turbulent second half 
to 2011. Europe’s debt crisis had yet to be stabilised and 
growth prospects looked bleak across much of the global 
economy, though world equity markets started the first 
quarter strongly. However, it soon became apparent that the 
crisis was not over and investors began to brace for a Greek 
exit from the euro. Bond yields fell to record lows as many 
investors shunned risk. So cautious was the investment 
climate that the swedish Financial supervisory Authority 
intervened to exempt swedish life insurance companies 
from rules that would have forced them to divest equities to 
meet regulatory requirements.   

this lifeline to a nervous market was followed by a second 
and more powerful one during the summer when eCB 
president Mario Draghi announced that the bank would do 
everything in its power to save the euro and that no Grexit 

was on the cards. It was a big statement – and one backed by 
limited firepower. But as the market gradually began to real-
ise that Draghi was serious, investors’ risk appetite returned 
and equity markets rallied across the board. Ben Bernanke, 
head of the Us Federal Reserve, also helped to calm the 
market by announcing that the Us intended to keep interest 
rates close to zero until unemployment had dropped to 
6.5% – a move that helped to underpin a recovery during the 
second half of the year.

AP3 began the year with a good measure of caution but 
gradually increased risk as market uncertainty eased. We 
also developed the portfolio and improved risk management,  



STATemenT by THe ceO

including by investing in a new class of risk – volatility. Our 
volatility strategies yielded excellent returns and helped 
to diversify the portfolio. As part of our strategy, we also 
increased exposure in the inflation risk category and com-
pleted or exchanged contracts on real estate investments 
totalling SEK 7.5 billion, making AP3 the largest net investor 
in Swedish real estate in 2012. 

fruit of past labours 
Our long-term strategy is to create a profile with multiple 
sources of return and without excessive covariance between 
risk and equities. Scope for generating returns depends 
exclusively on our willingness to take risk. At the same time, 
we must avoid putting all our eggs in one basket. It may be 
tempting to invest as much as possible in equities as they 
can deliver very high returns, but we must not forget that 
such a strategy can come at a high price. Equity market 
corrections of 20% are not uncommon and we want to 
avoid exposing swedish pension capital to such losses. that 
is why we abstain, to some degree, from potential returns 
by diversifying risk across multiple asset categories with 
different risk profiles. In a good year on the equity markets 
– as in 2012 – we often lose out on our currency exposure. 
However, we need it to help us generate returns when 
equity markets perform poorly. It is better to make a small 
sacrifice when the market is strong than to lose large sums 
of money when the market is weak. That, in rather simplified 
terms, is the philosophy behind our investment strategy. 

In 2012 we also increased our exposure to insurance-
related bonds and began to build a portfolio of equities 
with high and stable yields. Many of the strategic decisions 
taken in prior years bore fruit in 2012. This was despite bond 
yields dropping to record lows, which meant that a major 
part of the portfolio – AP3 is required by statute to hold 30% 
of its assets in low-risk fixed income securities – posted a 
relatively low return. 

Major revision of fund capital
For AP3 the year was marked by the government’s report 
into the AP funds, which was published in August. the AP3 
Board of Directors provided a detailed formal response 
during the autumn as part of the report consultation process 
and this document is available on the AP3 website. I would 
like to comment on a few aspects of the debate that arose in 
the wake of the report. the report raised numerous issues, 
and it would appear that many question marks were not 
fully ironed out. 

One issue was the way the AP funds formulate their 
investment targets and the apparent incongruity of AP1, 
AP2, AP3 and AP4 having different targets despite sharing 
the same mission. However, such perspectives are based 
on a misconception. The Swedish National Pension Funds 
Act, which regulates the activities of AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4, 
clearly states that ”…the AP funds shall manage their assets 
in such a way as to provide the maximum possible benefit 
for the income-based retirement pension”. The act also 
requires the AP funds to draw up an annual operating plan 
detailing guidelines for their investing activities. AP3’s target 
of a 4% real return is one of the annual guidelines set by the 
AP3 Board of Directors. Such guidelines and operational 
targets often differ between companies in the same line of 
business and in accordance with the strategy adopted by 
their respective boards. The AP funds are no different. We 
have different targets because our boards take different 
approaches to return and risk. This is entirely consistent 
with the philosophy of achieving risk diversification through 
multiple fund managers. What the debate highlights is the 
need for the AP funds to be clearer about how we set our 
targets and how the targets shape our operations.

the debate surrounding the future size of the AP 
funds’ pension capital was also based on a misconception 
because the swedish Pensions Agency sharply revised its 
own forecast after the report process began. In 2011 the 
Pensions Agency estimated that the AP funds’ combined 
capital in 2038 would be just under SEK 700 billion in today’s 
money. (the funds’ capital is projected to reach a long-term 
low in 2038.) According to the agency’s forecast, the pension 
system would in 2038 have a fund strength of just over 12 
months, meaning that fund capital would be enough to 
meet the nation’s pension commitments for just over a 
year. But early in 2012, the agency published a new forecast 
suggesting that fund capital would show stable real growth 
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“The figures demonstrate that 
we have made a considerable 
contribution to the health of 
the pension system.”



and also would grow in nominal terms. the new forecast 
projected that the AP funds would in 2038 be managing 
pension assets of close to SEK 1,600 billion – triple the 
amount invested in the system at its launch in 2001. We can 
merely note that such forecasts are very long-term and thus 
highly speculative. We should be very careful about drawing 
conclusions over potential changes to the pension system 
based on these projections.

need for new investment rules  
Based on my experience of managing swedish pension fund 
assets at AP3 since 2004, I believe the National Pension 
Funds Act is relatively well structured and sustainable over 
time. All the same, there are a number of teething problems 
that need to be addressed promptly, in particular the unpre-
dictability attached to changes in pension disbursements 
and the AP funds’ outdated investment rules.

  Back in the 2006 annual report I highlighted the fact that 
the rules governing the AP funds’ investing activities are 
outdated. Change was needed already then. now, in today’s 
environment of record-low bond yields, the need is even 
more acute. It seems unduly cautious to require funds with 
combined capital of more than SEK 900 billion to invest over 
SEK 300 million in government bonds or equivalent fixed 
income instruments offering low risk and low returns.

As the most long-term social contract in sweden today, 
the Swedish pension system needs to enjoy public confi-
dence. Confidence is often built on knowledge, but in the 
case of the pension system this knowledge seems to be 
somewhat limited. There have been suggestions that the 
benefits of reforming the pension system in 2001 have 
been weaker than hoped because equity markets have per-
formed below expectations since that date. But it is average 

income growth – not the equity markets – that wields the 
main influence over our pensions. Income growth forms the 
basis for the income index, which determines the growth  
of pensions and pension credits. Since inception, the AP 
funds’ combined capital has risen faster than the income 
index. Hence, the funds over the years (with the exception of 
2008, when the financial crisis struck) have helped to reduce 
the risk of the pension system’s automatic balancing mecha-
nism being activated. The AP funds can have a secondary 
overall impact on the health of the pension system, but 
the system’s long-term sustainability has, and always will, 
depend on how many people are in work and for how long.  

Working to broaden the portfolio
Our mission is to guarantee the value of the Swedish national 
pension for current and future pensioners by investing and 
managing our capital responsibly. We work continuously to 
improve and develop our operations in order to fulfil this 
mission. this year’s results show that we are on the right 
track. We will continue our work to diversify risk and find 
new sources of return in 2013.

I would like to thank all employees warmly for their 
excellent efforts in the last year and for playing their part in 
strengthening the pension system. Also, I would like to thank 
the Board of Directors, not just for their strong support 
but also for their constant demands for development and 
improvement. These have helped to spur us to the position 
we have today. 

Kerstin Hessius
CEO
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“As the most long-term social  
contract in Sweden today, the 
 Swedish pension system needs to 
enjoy public confidence.”
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“The AP funds play two key roles in the  national 
pension system: they act as a buffer when 
 disbursements exceed contributions and they help 
to ensure the system’s financial stability.”
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ROLe Of THe AP fUnDS in THe PenSiOn SySTem

AP3 forms part of the income pension system along with AP1, AP2 and AP4. together the four funds 
 account for a relatively small portion – around 10% – of total pension system assets. Nevertheless, they 
play two key roles in the system: they generate capital that enables the system to balance its income and 
liabilities, and they help to ensure the system’s financial stability. AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4 have paid out SEK 
52 billion to cover pension system outgoings since 2009.

Wage growth influences pensions
the income pension system is pay-as-you-go, meaning 
that the pension contributions that an employer pays to 
the system are not physically invested in an account in the 
employee’s name but are used instead to finance the pen-
sions of current pensioners. employees are paid a pension 
credit for every krona paid into their pension accounts, and 
these credits give an entitlement to a future pension. When 
people reach retirement age, their pensions are paid by the 
contributions of others who are in work at that time.

Pension credits are indexed upwards to ensure their 
value keeps pace with inflation. Indexing is based on the 
National Institute of Economic Research’s income index. 
the income index plays an important role in determining 
pension size, but the primary factor is the total amount of 
pension credits the pensioner amasses during his or her 
working life – and when they begin to be drawn. the more 
years you work, the more pension credits you earn. the 
longer you continue working, the fewer years over which 
your credits need to be spread.

A contract between generations
The pension system is an inter-generational social contract 
whereby people currently in work pay the pensions of cur-
rent pensioners. Indexing strengthens the link between the 
generations by keeping pensions in line with incomes. 

For this social contract to be viable, it is vital that the 
system is seen as fair and that no generation benefits at an-
other’s expense. It would not be right for the system to pay 
out more in pensions than than it can afford as this would 
jeopardise the financial stability needed to ensure that the 
system remains in place for future generations. 

What is the “brake” and is there an accelerator?
All things being equal, pension contributions will fall if 
unemployment rises or population growth slows. Lower 
contributions diminish the pension pot available to current 
pensioners and reduce the value of pension system assets. 
this does not have to be an immediate problem – provided 
the system is financially robust. But if contributions remain 
at a lower level it is important to reassert the system’s finan-
cial health. In these circumstances, the system’s automatic 
balancing mechanism – known as “the brake” – is activated.

The brake is applied when pension system’s liabilities 
exceed its assets, though the name is misleading because 
it also includes an element of acceleration.  As a first step, 
pension credits – liabilities – are indexed upwards at a lower 

rate than the income index until the deficit is erased and 
assets once more exceed liabilities. When equilibrium is 
restored, the system stops “braking” and starts accelerating, 
with pension credits being indexed at a higher rate until they 
have regained parity with the income index. It all means that 
pension credits not paid out during the balancing period are 
not necessarily adversely affected by balancing. 

The automatic balancing mechanism operates autono-
mously – as indeed does the entire system. In practical terms 
it means that the system stands on its own two feet and is 
independent from the government budget, which in turn 
means that pension contributions can be kept unchanged. 
the balancing mechanism also forges a bond between the 
generations because workers and pensioners both share the 
economic burden caused by high unemployment or other 
factors.

What’s the outlook for pensions in 2013 and beyond?
According to a Swedish Pension Agency projection in 
Decem ber 2012, income pensions will be indexed upwards 
by 4.1% in 2013. This is around 2 percentage points more 
than the income index and reflects the fact that the system is 
now recovering from the automatic balancing that  occurred 
in 2010.

The role of the AP funds as pension system buffers
The AP funds have two different roles within the pension 
system. First and foremost, they act as a buffer to even out 
temporary surpluses and deficits between pension contribu-
tions and disbursements. For this reason the AP funds are 
known as “buffer funds”. If the contributions paid into the 
system one year are insufficient to pay pension liabilities, 
the AP funds are there to make up the shortfall. Conversely, 
the AP funds also manage surpluses that arise when paid-in 
contributions exceed disbursements. Demographic changes 
– shifts in population age and size – are the main reason why 
contributions and disbursements do not always match in any 
given year.

As of 2009, disbursements have exceeded paid-in 
contributions due to the fact that many “baby-boomers” 
born in the 1940s have entered retirement. The AP funds 
have made up this shortfall,  in 2012 paying out a total of SEK 
15.2 billion – or SEK 3.8 billion per fund – to bridge the gap. 
The Swedish Pensions Agency’s projections indicate that the 
AP funds will continue to cover pension system shortfalls 
until about 2040.
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Role of the AP funds as long-term investors
the AP funds’ role in the income pension system is to gener-
ate solid returns on their investment assets to improve the 
long-term financial health of the system and hence reduce 
the risk of lower pensions due to automatic balancing. 
However, achieving favourable returns also means accepting 
a degree of financial risk, which in practical terms means 
investing in equities. 

Sweden’s pension system
the swedish pension system has three parts and can be 
illustrated as a pyramid: 

  The foundation of the pyramid is the state pension 
covering everyone who works or has previously worked. 
the state pension has two components: the income 
pension and the premium pension. AP1, AP2, AP3 and 
AP4 belong to the income pension system. AP6 is also 
part of this system but is there solely to provide financial 
stability and plays a different role from the other funds, 
while AP7 is part of the premium pension system.  

  In the middle of the pyramid is the occupational pension. 
this is a pension plan that most people in employed 
work have and which involves employers paying a sum 
of money every month on each employee’s behalf. the 
exact nature of an occupational pension plan depends 
on the employer. People who have changed jobs typi-
cally have multiple occupational pensions. 

  At the top of the pyramid is the private pension. Unlike 
the other two components, the private pension is 
optional.

Financial strength of the system
The financial stability of the income pension system is mea-
sured by the balance figure – a metric that divides pension 
assets by pension liabilities. A balance figure of more than 1 
indicates that the system is in equilibrium.

Income pension assets are pension contributions plus 
the assets of the AP funds. Pension contributions account 
for around 90% of income pension assets and consist of the 
projected value of future pension contributions. As of 31 
December 2011, pension contributions were estimated at 
SEK 6,828 billion and the combined capital of the AP funds at 
SEK 873 billion.

Pension liabilities are the sum of everyone’s pension 
credits and totalled SEK 7,543 billion at 31 December 2011. 
The balance figure was 1.0198 on that date. 

Since the AP funds account for a relatively small portion 
of pension system assets, their investment returns have a 
correspondingly small influence on the balance figure. Ac-
cording to Swedish Pensions Agency figures, a return of 10% 
generated by the AP funds would produce an increase of just 
0.4% in the balance figure, while a 1% increase in contribu-
tions would raise the balance figure by 0.6%.

How different variables impact pension system financial strength 

Variable Change in balance figure

Reduction of 1 year in labour 
market entry age +4%

Increase of 1 year in  
retirement age +2%

Increase of 1 year in pension  
asset base +0.6%

Increase of 10% in AP  
funds' returns +0.4%

AP3´S ROLe in THe PenSiOn SySTem

Private 
pension 

plan 

Occupational pension

State pension

Income pension 16%Premium pension 2.5%

The pension pyramid
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How big are pension contributions?
Every month, 18.5% of every worker’s pre-tax salary is paid 
into the national pension system – 16 percentage points 
into the income pension scheme and 2.5 percentage points 
into the premium pension scheme. However, a statutory 
ceiling on pension-entitled income means that all incoming 
payments do not necessarily earn pension credits. the ceiling 
is set at 7.5 statutory “income units”, which in 2012 equated 
to around SEK 34,000 per month. Thus, if you earn a monthly 
salary of more than SEK 34,000, only 18.5% of SEK 34,000 will 
be paid towards your pension. The 18.5% paid on your salary 
over and above SEK 34,000 is therefore a tax.

The income pension should be seen as offering basic 
provision. Occupational and private pensions are important 
to enable individuals who earn more than SEK 34,000 per 
month to draw a pension that gives them comparable income 
to their pre-retirement days. You can calculate your future 
pension at www.minpension.se.

Why is pension growth lower than the index?
When you retire you will notice that your pension credits 
are indexed by a lower amount than the income index – 1.6 
percentage points to be precise – even in the absence of 
automatic balancing. Although true, this is only part of the 
story and can give rise to misunderstandings.

Indexing is reduced initially by 1.6% because people are 
assumed to derive more benefit from their pension when 
they are recently retired than towards the end of retire-
ment. To allocate pension credits equally over the course 
of retirement, payments are increased in the early phase 
of retirement and decreased in the latter stages. The initial 
increase is achieved by dividing the individual’s pension 
credits by a number lower than his or her assumed total 
number of years in retirement. 

Conversely, the decrease in the latter stages of retire-
ment is achieved by indexing the pension at a lower rate 
than the income index. this is known as the norm. Were 
the initial increase in pension early in the retirement period 
not compensated by lower indexing, the individual would 
receive more than his or her entitlement – making the 
system unsustainable over time.

Were the good old days really better?
the current pension system replaced the old AtP system 
after a long and complex political process. Under the ATP 
system, the main determining factor in your pension was the 
size of your salary over a limited number of qualifying years. 
the number of years actually spent in work was of lesser 
importance. this was generous – so generous that it made 
the system unsustainable. sooner or later, it would have 
collapsed. The consequences of unsustainable state pension 
systems are evident in many european countries today.

the successor to the AtP system delivers pensions that 
are directly proportionate to each individual’s contribu-
tions. This puts more responsibility on the individual but 
is ultimately a more sustainable way forward. Today, many 
european countries are grappling with the problems of 
unsustainable pension systems and the swedish pension 
system is seen as an international role model. 

the new system links pension credits with average wage 
growth. The old system was linked with inflation, which is 
lower than wage growth.  
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“based on our mission of managing our assets 
in the best interests of the pension system, AP3 
has created a diversified global portfolio.”
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TARGeTS AnD inVeSTmenT STRATeGy

AP3 is there to help ensure that the pension system has a sufficiently large buffer to meet the stresses 
and strains it is likely to face over time. This section presents the targets and investment strategy that AP3 
deploys to help it discharge its two key roles in the income pension system.

General goal
AP3’s overall goal is to manage its pension assets so as to 
generate maximum possible benefit for the income pension 
system by delivering strong investment returns at a low level 
of risk. AP3 plays two key roles within the pension system, 
and performing these roles requires us to generate favour-
able returns on our investments at a low level of risk. the 
higher our returns, the larger our contribution to the buffer 
that cushions the pension system from cash outflows. High 
returns also help to keep the pension system financially 
strong and reduce the risk of automatic balancing. 

When it comes to the financial health of the pension 
system, an inherent contradiction exists between high long-
term returns and short-term financial risk-taking. Higher risk 
can be expected to generate higher returns over time, but 
can also give rise to short-term adverse impacts on income. 
These may affect fund capital and pose a risk of financial 
imbalances within the pension system. AP3 strives to man-
age this contradiction by diversifying portfolio risk.

AP3’s return targets
Successful asset management requires us to operationalise 
our overall target for the Fund. this target relates to return 
and is a tool that establishes operating clarity and guides our 
choice of investment strategy. 

Based on the target, AP3 analyses carefully what risk 
level the Fund – and the pension system – can bear before 
setting an operating target for return. When performing this 

analysis we use a time horizon of 30-40 years. The process 
involves identifying the asset management approach that 
will best enable us to meet our responsibilities as a pen-
sion system buffer and bring added stability to the pension 
system over the 30-40 year time period. The analysis is 
based on multiple variables, including projections indicating 
a positive balance figure and the minimisation of any pen-
sion shortfalls that occur as a result of automatic balancing. 
We believe a real (adjusted for inflation) return target of 4% 
strikes a reasonable balance between long-term stability 
and the short-term risk of investment losses. 

Investment philosophy and AP3’s special attributes
AP3’s investment philosophy defines the Fund’s core beliefs 
in terms of how the financial markets work and how value 
is created. the philosophy is fundamental to designing the 
investment strategy. the investment strategy sets out how 
our investing activities should be structured in order to 
deliver optimal results. It includes everything from organisa-
tional structure and job responsibilities to the strategies and 
analysis models used by portfolio managers.

It is based on generally accepted principles in modern 
asset management and is presented in closer detail on the 
next page. However, different asset managers execute their 
investment philosophies in different ways. It is through 
execution that asset managers can leverage the special 
attributes they possess and that they believe can generate 
value over time. 

Asset management mandates

Investment strategy

Investment philosophy AP3’s special attributes

 AP3’s investment strategy
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AP3’s special attributes can be summarised under four 
headings:

   Long-term approach – many managers nowadays lack 
the freedom to take a long-term approach because 
short-term evaluation horizons encourage a focus on 
short-term market movements. AP3 can use a long-
term investment timeframe, which enables us to take a 
counter-cyclical approach. Long-term thinking reduces 
uncertainty when it comes to timing investment deci-
sions and allows us to adjust the portfolio gradually to 
the risk levels and premiums that strike the best balance 
between risk and return.

  flexibility – AP3 is in a strong position to adapt to chang-
es in market conditions and adjust the portfolio when 
necessary. Our organisational structure is based on close 
links between executive management and other parts 
of the organisation. Flexibility also promotes continuous 
development of our asset management approach.

   Reputation as asset manager – AP3’s approach, 
history, swedish state-owned background and strong 
governance combine to make us an attractive partner. 
They also give us advantages over many other financial 
market institutions. Down the years, we have developed 
specialist expertise that has created a robust platform 
for our investment operations. Alpha/beta separation, 
procurement of external mandates and our manage-
ment of unlisted assets are three key areas where we 
have acquired specialist expertise.

   Economies of scale – from an international perspec-
tive, AP3 is sufficiently large as a financial institution to 
conduct cost-effective asset management.

investment strategy
We base our investment strategy on our target of a real 
return of 4% per annum over time. This means assembling a 
diversified portfolio of assets capable of delivering our target 
at a reasonable level of risk. It also means attuning that level 
of risk to current market conditions. AP3 deploys a strategy 
of extensive risk diversification in line with our investment 
philosophy. We also evaluate a range of financial assets to 
achieve greater reliability in our forecasting. Besides this, 
AP3 has chosen to focus investments on areas where we 
have the requisite expertise and can leverage our special 
attributes.     

Our asset management department is the cornerstone of 
our investment strategy. the department is organised with 
clear lines of responsibility and powers. At AP3 we delegate 
investment decisions to the unit best placed to manage the 
assets in question in a profitable and cost-effective manner. 
Successful delegation of asset management mandates de-
mands a structured approach to analysis and execution plus 
a solid risk management structure. the Board of Directors 
sets the guidelines for fund management and overall port-
folio risk allocations. The Board also decides the deviation 
mandates within which the CEO can change allocations.

Focus on overall risk allocation
In the long run, asset allocation – and hence allocation of 
risk – is the single most important factor for AP3’s investment 
returns and is the linchpin of our investment strategy. We 
base our approach on ensuring that the Board of Direc-
tors, executive management and all members of the asset 
management team work together to meet our target for real 
return. Achieving this target increases the probability that 
we will be able to meet our commitments to the pension sys-
tem. An effective risk allocation strategy is achieved through 

AP3’s investment philosophy 

  Risk-taking Risk-taking in financial markets generates positive returns over time.

  Forecastability The use of structured analysis enables AP3 to forecast return and risk for different  
categories of financial asset.

  Risk diversification Diversified risk-taking can raise risk-adjusted returns. 

  Time diversification Combining investment decisions with long-, medium- and short-term investment horizons facilitates 
higher risk-adjusted returns  and increases the probability of achieving the return target.
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portfolio diversification and by adjusting allocations over the 
medium term in accordance with prevailing financial market 
conditions – an approach known as dynamic asset allocation.

Both diversification and dynamic asset allocation are 
based on a model that divides Fund assets into seven risk 
categories (see diagram below). The purpose of dividing 
the portfolio into risk categories instead of traditional asset 
classes is to identify and highlight the risks to which the 
portfolio is exposed. This creates an effective overview of 
the portfolio’s exposure to different types of risk and makes 
it easier to act proactively. We also base our risk category 
assessments on a liquidity perspective.

Diversification
Projected real returns on fixed income assets with a high 
credit rating are insufficient for us to reach our return target, 
so we invest a high proportion of our holdings in higher-risk 
assets. Listed equities have historically been the main ve-
hicle for risk-based investment, but since inception in 2001 
we have sought to reduce our vulnerability to equity market 
downturns by investing in a diversified range of investments 
that are cost-effective while also falling within the scope of 
our investment rules. For example, we have made significant 
investments in real estate, unlisted equities and  insurance-
related bonds1 and in 2012 added volatility strategies1 to 
this category. This diversification strategy has raised our 
risk-adjusted return and somewhat dampened the negative 
impact of major equity market corrections.

Dynamic asset allocation
Dynamic asset allocation aims to increase the probability 
that we will achieve our target return. It involves trying to 
narrow the band between which return can vary in any given 
year in an effort to reduce the risk of negative investment 
performance and limit its impact on the pension system.

In the AP3 dynamic asset allocation model, investment 
decisions are based on structural and cyclical macroeco-
nomic analysis and evaluations of different risk categories 
and the level of risk appetite among capital market inves-
tors. When analysing cyclical factors we look at where the 
world economy is in the business cycle and what the current 
trends are. Historic data show that returns on financial risk-
taking are strongly connected to the business cycle.

Assessment of AP3’s targets   
AP3 is operationally geared to achieving a target for absolute 
return. Allocation decisions are made on a continuing basis 
with the aim of dynamically adapting the portfolio to the 
Fund’s risk appetite and projected risks and returns on the 
financial markets. The Board of Directors assesses executive 
management using a performance model consisting of four 
components that together paint a picture of how well placed 
AP3 is to achieve its long-term target and how it performs 
against that target. 

AP3’s asset management portfolio

Equities 

Listed 
equities 

Unlisted 
equities 

Credits 

Credit bonds, 
e.g. mortgage 
and corporate 

bonds 

Other 
exposure 

E.g. convertible 
bonds, 

insurance risk 
and volatility 

strategies 

Currencies Inflation

Index-linked 
bonds

Real estate 
incl. 

timberland

Total AP3 portfolio

Fixed income 

Government 
bonds 

Absolute 
return 

strategies

Mandates 
with low 

covariance 
with the total 

portfolio

1 see Glossary



Assessments are made against: 
  The operating target of an average annual real return of 

4% over predefined periods of time,  

  A long-term static portfolio,

  An external benchmark group of international pension 
funds with equivalent mandates,

  Self-assessment of allocation decisions. 

Any review of the Fund’s general asset management 
performance should be made over a meaningful period of 
time due to our long-term investment horizon. We have 
chosen a review period of 5-10 years in order to capture a 
full business cycle. Until such time as the Fund possesses 
data covering a full period, assessments will be based on 
available information while bearing in mind the need to 
retain a long-term perspective.

Long-term target of 4% real return
The table below shows AP3’s real returns over the last five 
and ten years. AP3 achieved its long-term target of a 4% 
average real return in the last decade, thereby fulfilling its 
mission to contribute to the strength of the pension system 
during that period. However, AP3 has not succeeded in gen-
erating an average real return of 4% in the last five years – a 
fact that can be partly atttributed to the sharp stock market 
correction in 2008 which saw the MSCI World equity index 
plunge by around 40%. 

Real return per annum

5 years (2008-2012) 0.7%

10 years (2003-2012) 5.3%

Long-term static portfolio
AP3 also evaluates the portfolio against a basic static 
portfolio exclusively comprised of listed equities and fixed 
income instruments. The static portfolio makes allocations 
between these asset categories with the aim of achieving 
a projected real annual return of 4%. Projections for return 
on the different asset classes are based on long-term series 
of historic data and thus qualify as generally acceptable 
financial market forecasts. The aim of this process is to 
examine whether AP3’s decision to implement a more 
diversified and advanced portfolio structure is successful 
over time. 

In 2012 the static portfolio recorded a return of 9.7%, 
compared to the net return of 10.7% generated by AP3. 
There were three main reasons why the AP3 portfolio 
performed better: our underweight in fixed income securi-
ties, our investments in absolute return strategies, and our 
overweight in the “Other exposure” risk category. 

 

External benchmark group
AP3’s asset management aspires to high international stan-
dards and is assessed against an international benchmark 
of eight pension funds that are similar to AP3 in terms of 
their volume of managed investments, return targets and 
types of mandate. In the five years from 2007 to 2011, these 
funds generated an average real return of -0.3%, while AP3 
recorded a return of -1.1%. The outperformance by the 
international benchmark group partly reflected the fact 
that its north America-based members had higher weights 
in unlisted assets, which recorded higher returns than listed 
assets during the period.

Self-assessment of allocation decisions           
The final element in the AP3 assessment model is a 
self-assessment of the allocation decisions made during 
the year. this provides a tool that the Board of Directors 
and executive management use to evaluate the ability of 
AP3’s asset management operations to correctly assess 
the financial markets and whether risk allocation decisions 
have been consistent with the Fund’s projections. It helps 
to identify areas for improvements and development.

  

Statutory investment rules1 
  Minimum 10% external management

  Maximum 10% of the voting rights in a listed entity

  Maximum 2% of total Stockholm equity market 
capitalisation

  Minimum of 30% of assets held in low-risk, fixed 
income instruments

  Maximum 5% of assets held in unlisted securities

  Maximum 40% of assets exposed to currency risk

  “The Fund may not invest in options, forwards or 
similar commodity-based financial instruments”

  “Fund investments are not tools of political or 
macroeconomic policy”

  “environmental and social responsibility is to be 
taken into consideration in investment operations 
without compromising the goal of securing high 
returns”

1 National Pension Funds Act (2000:192)
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ReSPOnSibLe STeWARDSHiP PART Of AP3’S miSSiOn

The corporate stewardship responsibilities of the AP funds are set out in the National Pension Funds Act. 
The act requires us to be environmentally and socially responsible without compromising our objective of 
high investment returns. AP funds are not permitted to take political or macroeconomic policy consider-
ations into account in their investing activities. AP3 is part of the national pension system and independent 
from established investment spheres and other business interests. this autonomy enhances our credibility 
as an institutional owner and helps us to advance our views on key governance-related issues. AP3 takes 
the view that well run companies generate higher returns over time at a lower level of risk and that it is 
important to be a responsible owner.  

corporate stewardship strategy
AP3 believes that a responsible approach to corporate 
stewardship makes a positive contribution over time to 
our primary goal of obtaining high investment returns. We 
review our corporate stewardship policy prior to each AGM 
season and decide our focus areas based on our objective 
of achieving maximum investment returns. the corporate 
stewardship policy defines our approach across the focus 
areas.

Focus areas for stewardship in 2012  
  Remuneration  – the stewardship policy takes a 

conservative line on variable remuneration to senior 
executives. Our basic requirements are that share-based 
incentive schemes should be prudent, transparent, 
linked to performance and open to evaluation.  

  Capital structure  – Issues including dividend policy and 
how companies structure share issues and buybacks.

  board diversity  – We use our nomination committee 
memberships to promote increased ethnic and gender 
diversity on corporate boards.

  Stewardship in the global portfolio – We exercise 
stewardship in foreign entities in various ways, including 
by voting at AGMs and supporting investor initiatives. 
Focus areas include executive remuneration and separa-
tion of the roles of chairman and CEO.

  Environmental and social responsibility  – Here we 
pursue both our own initiatives and also work closely 
with AP1, AP2 and AP4 via the joint ethical Council. 
Dialogue and cooperation with other investors are our 
primary tools for influencing companies to change their 
behaviour.

supports 
investor initiatives

Participates in  
self-regulation of market

Participates in 
class actions

Prepared to use  
the option of portfolio 

exclusion

AP3 and corporate 
stewardship

Votes, submits  
resolutions and 
speaks at AGMs

Collaboration with 
other investors

Sits on nomination 
committees

Dialogue with  
corporate managements 

and boards

AP3’s corporate stewardship tools
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Environmental and social responsibility  
AP3 sees a connection between corporate social and 
environmental responsibility and the capacity of enterprises 
to deliver long-term shareholder value. We believe that 
well managed companies offer better long-term investment 
prospects. We screen our portfolio holdings to make sure 
they do not contravene international conventions. We also 
use active dialogue to encourage entities to act responsibly 
and support investor initiatives aimed at specific entities or 
industries.

AP3 works to ensure that the managements of com-
panies in which we invest identify and manage social and 
environmental risks in such a way as to create shareholder 
value.

Core values based on international conventions
AP3’s core values are founded on international conventions 
signed by the swedish government and our support for 
initiatives like the UN Global Compact and the OECD Guide-
lines for Multinational Enterprises. Sweden is a signatory to 
various international conventions in areas like human and 
labour rights, corruption and inhumane weapons.

Increased efficiency via the Ethical Council
AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4 have since 2007 coordinated their 
screening and dialogue processes through a joint ethical 
Council. The Ethical Council sets out to make a difference by 
applying the principles of commitment, engagement and 
change. It uses an external consultant to screen the funds’ 
listed equity portfolios to establish if any company in the 
portfolio is in non-compliance with international conven-
tions. If an entity is suspected of breaching a convention, the 
Ethical Council investigates the facts, contacts the company 
concerned and urges it to take action to address the breach 
and prevent any recurrence. the external consultant also en-
gages companies in dialogue on behalf of the ethical Council 
and other clients. Excluding a stock from the portfolio does 
not put an end to treaty violations, which is why AP3 and the 
ethical Council try where possible to remain as a shareholder 
and exert influence on the company concerned. Exclusion 
is a last resort when other options have failed. AP3 had 
excluded 11 companies from its portfolio as of 31 December 
2012.

Strength through teamwork
AP3 works closely with other international investors who 
share similar perspectives – an approach that creates greater 
impact and increases our scope for success in corporate 
dialogues. We often work closely with the Ethical Council in 
this sphere and also support proactive business and investor 
initiatives aimed at raising standards of transparency and 
ensuring increased focus on sustainability across multiple 
sectors. We also work to protect the interests of investors.
 

Dialogue the prime tool for exerting influence
Dialogue is AP3’s prime tool for influencing companies 
in our portfolio. We engage in proactive dialogues with 
swedish companies in our own right and with foreign 
companies via the ethical Council. the dialogues are a 
preventive strategy aimed at ensuring the company has 
good oversight of its social and environmental risks and 
over its risk management systems and corporate codes of 
conduct. We are also keen to ensure that personnel with a 
sustainability remit manage operating risks responsibly. As 
a long-term investor, we know that change can take time. 
We will continue to monitor a specific company until we 
have achieved our objectives through dialogue.

Integration of environmental and social responsibility 
in other asset classes
AP3 signed the Un Principles for Responsible Investment 
(PRI) in 2006. Much of our corporate governance work fo-
cuses on the listed equity portfolio, but we also promote an 
integrated approach to corporate governance and environ-
mental and ethical compliance in other asset classes. In this 
context, we engage in dialogue on sustainability-related 
issues with external managers of unlisted equities. We also 
invest in eco-friendly projects including green bonds and 
real estate, wind power, cleantech and certified forests. The 
AP3 stewardship Report, published annually, details how 
we integrate the PRI in our asset management.

Transparency important for public confidence
AP3 aims to report its corporate governance activities as 
openly as possible. However, it is not always practicable 
to provide detailed reports of our discussions with other 
investors, nomination committees and corporate manage-
ments and boards because confidential dialogue is often 
the most effective way to communicate and drive change. 
nevertheless, transparency is important for building trust 
among stakeholders, which is why our annual stewardship 
Report presents the issues that we have prioritised during 
the year, our core principles, and how we voted. the ethical 
Council publishes a separate annual report on its corporate 
dialogues and investor initiatives.  

The AP3 corporate stewardship policy, stewardship report and 
the Ethical Council’s annual report are available at www.ap3.se 
and www.ethicalcouncil.com

cORPORATe STeWARDSHiP



“Our employees’ combined know-how  
and experience are key to us achieving 
strong investment returns.”



SKiLLeD AnD HiGHLy eXPeRienceD STAff  

AP3 is a knowledge-intensive organisation. The combined expertise and experience of our employees is 
critical to our performance. Many of our staff possess high levels of specialist expertise, and it is vital that 
we are able to attract the right type of people to come and work for us. AP3 seeks to offer a stimulating 
work environment with a culture of openness and professionalism that encourages personal responsibil-
ity. On average, our staff have 19 years’ professional experience and 79% hold a university degree.

Thirty-two of AP3’s 56 employees work in asset manage-
ment, primarily as analysts and portfolio managers. Our 
other 24 staff work in business support, control and 
administrative functions.

The Executive Management Committee has five mem-
bers: the CEO and the heads of Asset Management, Strategic 
Allocation, Business Support and Control, and Communica-
tions and Sustainable Investment. Executive management is 
responsible for general strategy, budget and financial 
performance, the AP3 brand, communications and human 
resources. 

AP3’s Dynamic Allocation Management Committee is in 
charge of the overall investment strategy within the 
mandates set by the Board of Directors, while the Risk 
Committee handles risk management issues. All 14 AP3 

managers are members of an extended management 
committee that coordinates projects and promotes 
knowledge development.

AP3’s asset management is organised in five units: 
Strategic Allocation, Beta Management, Alpha Manage-
ment, Alternative Investments and External Management. 

Business Support and Control is in charge of Back Office, 
Middle Office, Finance, IT, Administration, Human Resour-
ces, Legal Affairs and Compliance.

Skills development a high priority  
AP3 aims to be an attractive employer with the capacity to 
recruit and retain skilled staff who can contribute to our 
development. We work actively to identify the skills we 
need, both today and in the future. Access to the requisite 

emPLOyeeS
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know-how is vital to our development. In 2012, Business 
support and Control completed a skills enhancement 
project to establish clearer structures for job responsibilities 
and skills profiles. Each member of staff has an annual per-
formance review with his or her manager. Together the staff 
member and manager identify and evaluate future areas for 
development. AP3 also provides skills development through 
training courses, workshops and conferences. Presentation 
technique in English was a focus area in 2012.

It is equally important that our employees continue 
learning at work, for instance by taking on new or expanded 
remits or participating in projects. Over the years, many 
of our people have moved jobs within the organisation 
and gained new skills that have helped them to advance 
their careers. In some cases, changing jobs or moving to 
another department can enhance personal performance 
and job satisfaction. Likewise, people sometimes transfer to 
new positions internally due to changing needs within the 
organisation. 

Members of executive management have tailored 
personal development plans focused on leadership, profes-
sional competence development and business networking.

Staff survey
It is vital that we create a business culture and environment 
in which our employees prosper and can develop their 
careers. We carry out staff surveys on a regular basis to give 
people the chance to tell us how they feel about working for 
AP3 and enable us to benchmark our progress and identify 
areas for improvement.

The results of the 2012 staff survey were very encourag-
ing and highlighted a continued positive trend. Executive 
management and department managers will use the 
survey results as part of their drive to continue moving the 
organisation forward.  

Wellness
AP3 has an important role to play as an employer in 
encouraging a healthy work-life balance among our staff. 
We also place a long-term focus on employees’ health and 
offer everyone regular check-ups and an exercise subsidy. 
Sickness absence remained low at 0.7% in 2012.

equality
AP3 actively promotes equality and diversity. Working hours 
are flexible and encourage individual responsibility, making 
it possible for male and female employees alike to combine 
work with family life. We also support and encourage staff 
to take statutory parental leave. Four staff members took 
parental leave in 2012 – one of them female and three of 
them male. 

As at 31 December 2012, 36% of AP3 staff were female 
and 64% were male. Twenty percent of employees held 
managerial positions, of whom 36% were female and 64% 
were male. Executive management accounted for 9% of 
the employee total and was 60% female and 40% male. At 
year-end, the average age of employees was 43. three new 
members of staff joined the Fund during the year and four 
left us.

Gender balance 31 Dec 2012

Asset management

support and  
administrative  

functions

Female 4 16

Male 28 8

total 32 24

AP3 monitors salaries to make sure that no gender-related 
differentials arise for the same or similar types of work. We 
also carry out a market salary survey to confirm that our 
remuneration and benefits are reasonable and reflect market 
norms.

Internal ethical guidelines
AP3’s internal code of conduct sets out rules on entertain-
ment, gifts, outside employment, conflicts of interests and 
private securities trading. The code was revised during the 
spring and an internal workshop held to present it and the 
Fund’s core values. AP3 also has internal rules on workplace 
health and safety, personal health and diversity. A review of 
the Fund’s guideline’s on staff-related benefits took place 
during the year. 



eXecUTiVe mAnAGemenT

eXecUTiVe mAnAGemenT

 Kerstin Hessius 
ceO  
Joined AP3 in September 2004
Previously: CeO of stockholmsbörsen, Deputy Gov-
ernor of the swedish Central Bank, CeO of Östgöta 
Enskilda Bank Asset Management, Nordic Head of 
Fixed Income Alfred Berg, Öresundskonsortiet and 
Emory Center for Alternative Investments. CEO of 
Alfred Berg transferator.
Other assignments: Director of Vasakronan, Hemsö 
Fastigheter, SPP, Björn Borg, Svedab, AIAB. 
BSc. Year of birth 1958.

Gustaf Hagerud 
Deputy ceO and Head of Asset management
Joined AP3 in September 2008
Previously: AP1, Alecta, ABB Aros Securities,  
swedbank.
PhD. Year of birth 1963.

Christina Kusoffsky Hillesöy,
Head of Communications & Sustainable Investment
Joined AP3 in January 2005
Previously: Trygghetsrådet, TurnIT, Allgon, Microsoft, 
Bank of Boston Chile.
BSc. Year of birth 1964.

mårten Lindeborg 
Head of Strategic Allocation
Joined AP3 in February 2009
Previously: DnB, skandia.
BSc. Year of birth 1971.

Katarina Utterström 
CFO and Head of Business Support & Control
Joined AP3 in June 2008
Previously: DNB, Atos Consulting, KPMG, Volvo 
treasury, Handelsbanken.
BSc. Year of birth 1965.
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bOARD Of DiRecTORS

Pär Nuder, Chairman 
Appointed to the AP3 Board in 2011 
Industrial advisor.
Director of Fabege, skistar, swedegas, sundbybergs 
stadshus, nyx security, Öbergs Färghus, Fårö Berg-
man Centre Foundation.
Previously: Minister of Finance, Minister for Policy 
Coordination, Member of Parliament, Under-secre-
tary of State in the Prime Minister’s Office, Chairman 
of Vasallen, Director of Vin & sprit.
LLB.  Year of birth 1963.

Björn Börjesson, Deputy Chairman
Appointed to the AP3 Board in 2011
Deputy Chairman of Swedfund International.
Previously: Executive Vice President Handelsbanken.  
LLB. Year of birth 1951.

Sonat burman-Olsson
Appointed to the AP3 Board in 2008
Deputy CeO and CFO of ICA.
Director of Lindab, ICA Banken and KappAhl.
Previously: Vice President electrolux Group, senior 
Vice President electrolux europe, Vice President 
Electrolux International, Executive Director of British 
Petroleum and siemens.
BSc and Executive MBA. Year of birth 1958.

inga-Lill carlberg  
Appointed to the AP3 Board in 2009
senior Vice President nordea Retail Banking sweden.
Previously: Head of nordea Private Banking sweden 
and Head of Nordea Investment Management.
Director of Nordea Investment Funds and Stiftelsen 
för Finansforskning.
BSc. Year of birth 1962.

Gunvor Engström
Appointed to the AP3 Board in 2008
Director of Länsförsäkringar Liv, Semcon, Interna-
tionella Företagarföreningen, Apoteksgruppen, 
Metria and Chairman of the Swedish Association of 
Independent schools.
Previously: Governor of Blekinge County, CeO of 
Bank2 and Swedish Federation of Business Owners, 
Assistant Undersecretary at the Ministry of Industry, 
Employment and Communications, self-employed, 
CeO of tjänsteförbundet.
BSc. Year of birth 1950.

Lars ernsäter
Appointed to the AP3 Board in 2010
Economist at Swedish Trade Union Confederation. 
Previously: National Institute of Economic Research. 
University studies. Year of birth 1951.

Peter Hellberg
Appointed to the AP3 Board in 2010
First Deputy Chairman Unionen.
Director of LO-TCO Secretariat of International Trade 
Union Development Cooperation, Deputy Chairman 
of Swedish Confederation of Professional Employees, 
Director of Klara Norra Fastigheter, Council for Nego-
tiation and Cooperation Education Foundation.
University studies. Year of birth 1966.

Kari Lotsberg 
Appointed to the AP3 Board in 2005
Director of save the Children sweden, swedsec, 
Investment Consulting Group.
Previously: Under-secretary of State at the Ministry 
of Finance, Head of the economics Department at 
the swedish Central Bank, Head of Department at 
the Norwegian Ministry of Finance, OECD Repre-
sentative of the Norwegian Ministry of Finance, 
member of the EU’s Inter-Institutional Monitoring 
Group.
BSc. Year of birth 1950.

elisabeth Unell
Appointed to the AP3 Board in 2012
Leader of the Opposition on Västerås City Council. 
Director of SKL and Etablering Västerås.
Previously: Chairman of Västerås Municipal Execu-
tive Committee and Aroseken. 
M Phil, structural engineer. Year of birth 1962.
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DiRecTORS’ RePORT

DiRecTORS’ RePORT 2012
SiGnificAnT eVenTS  

  During the first quarter, AP3 invested SEK 1,340 million 
in German real estate via a consortium led by Patrizia 
Immobilien AG. The deal covered a portfolio of 21,000 
residential apartments, 90% of which are located in the 
state of Baden-Württemberg.

  In December, AP3 signed a contract with Kungsleden 
to acquire its 50% equity stake in Hemsö and become 
the company’s sole owner. At the same time, Hemsö 
restructured its portfolio by agreeing to sell a number 
of properties to Kungsleden. The transaction, which 
was subject to approval from the Swedish Competition 
Authority, was completed in the first quarter of 2013. The 
SEK 3,400 million purchase sum was paid both in equities 
and debt.

  August saw the publication of a government report on 
the AP funds and their management of national pension 
assets. AP3 issued a formal consultative response to the 
report during the fourth quarter.  

incOme in 2012
Asset management generated income of SEK 22,638 million 
(loss: 5,483), corresponding to a return of 10.7% (-2.4) 
before expenses and 10.7% (-2.5) after expenses. Fund 
capital stood at SEK 232,956 million (214,106) at year-end, 
up by SEK 18,850 million from the prior year.

During the year the Fund recorded a net outflow of SEK 
3,788 million (1,240). As of 2009, AP3 has made a net con-
tribution to the Swedish Pensions Agency to cover a deficit 
between pension contributions and disbursements. 

Change in fund capital

SEK m 2012 2011

Fund capital at 1 Jan 214,106 220,829

Pension contributions 55,441 53,895

Pension disbursements -59,009 -54,922

Administration fee to Swedish Pensions Agency -220 -213

Profit/loss for the year 22,638 -5,483

Total fund capital at 31 Dec 232,956 214,106

incOme   
Income after expenses was SEK 22,821 million (loss: 5,328) 
and consisted primarily of realised and unrealised changes 
in the value of financial assets, which are measured at 
fair value on the reporting date. Other income consists of 
net int erest income, dividends received and net currency 
income. 

Commission expenses in 2012 totalled SEK 119 million 
(89). They are expensed under income and comprise fixed 
management fees for external mandates, fund management 
fees, custody account fees and related costs.

OPeRATinG eXPenSeS
Operating expenses totalled SEK 183 million (155), of which 
SEK 117 million (104) were staff costs. Total expenses were 
0.14% (0.11) of average fund capital. This figure reflects the 
size of the AP3 cost base and the value of fund capital.  

Asset management cost ratio

2012 2011

Commission expenses, SEK m 119  89 

Operating expenses, SEK m  183 155 

Operating expenses + commission expenses ratio,1 % 0.14  0.11 

Operating expenses ratio,2 % 0.08 0.07

1 Based on total commission and operating expenses as a percentage of average 
  fund capital.
2 Based on operating expenses as a percentage of average fund capital.
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mARKeT OVeRVieW
Continued concern over the debt crisis in southern Europe, 
mounting fears over a budgetary crash in America, and 
weaker global economic indicators provided the main mar-
ket backdrop in 2012. In addition, there was a presidential 
election in the US and a change of leadership in China, the 
world’s two largest economies. the european, Us and Japa-
nese central banks continued to provide economic support 
through unconventional monetary stimuli and intervention 
on the bond markets, while central banks in several develop-
ing countries cut interest rates. But for all the stimuli, global 
economic growth proved considerably slower than in the 
two prior years and somewhat lower than most observers 
had predicted. Fast-growing BRIC countries – primarily China 
and India – continued to be the engine of world economic 
expansion and the gap in growth between the industrialised 
world and the leading emerging economies remained stark.

Despite a deterioration in economic conditions during 
the year, most financial assets gained ground. The stimuli 
provided by central banks worldwide lifted the markets and 
raised returns on both real and nominal government bonds. 
Government bonds in the eurozone performed strongest, 
posting a return of around 6%. Credit bonds also performed 
creditably, with swedish mortgage bonds rising by almost 
5% and returns on US corporate bonds surging by between 
10% and 15% according to risk level.

Equity markets fluctuated rather sharply during the year. 
Positive growth signals in the US and stimulus measures 
in Europe gave equities an initial fillip, but the market 
went into reverse during the spring when the Us fell short 
of growth forecasts and clear signals of weaker growth 
emerged from China. Equity prices were also impacted by 
corporate earnings, which proved relatively resilient in spite 
of the slower economic climate, and relatively modest valu-
ations in most markets. Equities rose sharply in the second 
half of the year, with a leading global share index putting the 
rise in prices (including dividends) at 17%.

In currency markets, 2012 marked a watershed for the 
swedish krona. During the last two decades, during which 
Sweden has had a floating exchange rate, the krona has 
invariably come under pressure during bouts of financial 
market instability. In 2012, however, this pattern was 
broken, with the krona strengthening when the markets 
were volatile and weakening in calmer periods. The Swedish 
Central Bank cut interest rates on three occasions in resp-
onse to a weaker economic outlook, which also impacted 
on the krona. During the summer, the markets seriously 
questioned the future of the euro. The krona made headway 
against most currencies during the year, especially against 
the Japanese yen.

Bond markets in 2012

Us corporate bonds
swedish mortgage bonds
swedish government bonds, 1-3 yrs
swedish corporate bonds
swedish index-linked bonds
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Lower nominal bond yields led to positive returns on most fixed income 
assets in 2012. For example, US corporate bonds put in a very strong 
performance. Swedish corporate bonds and mortgage bonds also 
posted favourable returns.

Equity market returns in local currency incl. dividends 2012

90

95

100

105

110

115

120

OMX S&P 500 EM MSCI eurostoxx

Jan Mar May Jul sep nov

Equity markets fluctuated sharply in the first half of 2012. The second 
six months of the year saw a gradual increase on almost all world 
equity markets. Average equity prices including dividends rose by 17% 
according to a leading global share index.

Currencies versus the Swedish krona in 2012
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 The krona made headway against most currencies during the year, 
especially against the Japanese yen.  
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Risk-taking per risk category at 31 Dec 2012

 Equities
Fixed 

income Credits Inflation Currencies
Other 

exposure

Absolute 
return 

strategies Total AP3
Value at Risk, SEK m 938 20 16 127 323 86 23 1,025

Value at Risk, % 0.40 0.01 0.01 0.05 0.14 0.04 0.01 0.44
Contribution to total risk, 
percentage points 84.6 -0.6 0.1 9.9 -1.1 6.0 1.1 100
Realised volatility 12 months, % 11.8 1.2 1.2 3.3 - 6.0 - 5.3

Risk-taking per risk category at 31 Dec 2011

Equities
Fixed 

income Credits Inflation Currencies
Other 

exposure

Absolute 
return 

strategies Total AP3
Value at Risk, SEK m 2,114 33 61 208 475 81 24 2,073

Value at Risk, % 0.99 0.02 0.03 0.10 0.22 0.04 0.01 0.97
Contribution to total risk,  
percentage points 100.4 -0.5 -0.8 9.3 -11.4 2.4 0.6 100
Realised volatility 12 months, % 19.7 2.1 2.1 3.7 4.2 9.2

Return per risk category at 31 Dec 2012

Equities
Fixed 

income Credits Inflation Currencies
Other 

exposure

Absolute 
return 

strategies Total AP3
Return, % 17.4 1.9 6.4 5.0 - 30.6 - 10.7

Contribution to total return, 
percentage points 8.8 0.3 0.9 0.9 -1.2 0.6 0.5 10.7

Return per risk category at 31 Dec 2011

Equities
Fixed 

income Credits Inflation Currencies
Other 

exposure

Absolute 
return 

strategies Total AP3
Return, % -10.3 0.8 7.5 13.5 - 3.9 - -2.4

Contribution to total return, 
percentage points -5.3 0.1 1.0 1.9 -0.2 0.0 0.1 -2.4

Exposure per risk category at 31 Dec 2012  

Equities
Fixed 

income Credits Inflation Currencies
Other 

exposure

Absolute 
return 

strategies Total AP3
Exposure, SEK m 126,029 31,449 30,517 38,438 53,295 10,716 12,347 249,496

Exposure, % 54.1 13.5 13.1 16.5 22.0 4.6 5.3 107.1

Exposure per risk category at 31 Dec 2011

Equities
Fixed 

income Credits Inflation Currencies
Other 

exposure

Absolute 
return 

strategies Total AP3
Exposure, SEK m 114,482 22,460 43,913 36,826 41,394 6,316 6,466 230,464

Exposure, % 53.5 10.5 20.5 17.2 19.3 3.0 3.0 107.6
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incOme fOR THe yeAR 
The total return on the AP3’s portfolio in 2012 was 10.7% 
(-2.4) before expenses. The real return (adjusted for 
inflation) totalled 10.7% (-4.4). AP3’s overriding mission is 
to achieve an average real return of 4% over time. In the 
last decade, AP3 has generated an average nominal return 
of 6.7% per annum. Adjusted for inflation, that equates to 
an annual average real return of 5.3%. The income index, 
which determines the rate at which pension credits are 
indexed upwards, rose 3.5% per annum in the period. Thus, 
AP3 has made a positive contribution to the pension system 
and outperformed its long-term target for real return. 

eXPOSURe AnD RiSK
AP3’s asset management strategy is based on risk allocation. 
The portfolio comprises seven different risk categories: 
Equities, Fixed Income, Credits, Inflation, Currencies, Other 
exposure and Absolute Return strategies. Dividing the 
portfolio on these lines enables us to analyse and project 
future returns and risk in the different asset categories and 
their relative contributions to the total portfolio. We base 
allocations on these projections combined with macro-
economic analysis, valuations and assessment of investors’ 
risk appetite.  

Exposure is defined as underlying value that is exposed 
to changes in value arising due to market movements. We 
use derivatives to manage risk and bring greater efficiency 
to our asset management operations. Employing deriva-
tives means that exposure can be either greater or less 
than total fund capital, as seen in 2012, when exposure at 
year-end totalled 107.1% (107.6) of fund capital. 

AP3 expresses portfolio risk using the Value at Risk (VaR) 
metric. VaR represents a 95% probability that the daily 
negative change in the value of the portfolio will not exceed 
a predetermined amount. Compared to recent years, VaR 
remained moderate to low in 2012. After a small rise during 
the second quarter due to increased market volatility, 
VaR returned to a relatively low level during the second 
half of the year. As of 31 December 2012, VaR for the total 
portfolio stood at SEK 1,025 million (2,073). 

Equities were the main source of investment exposure 
and the predominant contributor to portfolio risk. Curren-
cies and fixed income had negative covariance with equity 
risk and thus combined to reduce overall risk in the total 
portfolio. AP3 deploys a diversification strategy between 
different assets and geographic markets that helped to limit 
total portfolio risk during the year. The diversification effect 
meant that total portfolio risk was 33% lower than the 
aggregate VaR for all asset classes.

ReTURn PeR RiSK cATeGORy
Equities
The equities risk category consists of listed and unlisted 
equities. AP3’s equity exposure in 2012 varied from a 
minimum of 49% and a maximum 54% of fund capital. 
Diversification of the equity portfolio is achieved by invest-
ing some assets in alternative indices and through thematic 
investment, for example in equities with high direct yields 
and in pharmaceutical and biotechnology stocks.

Equity markets fluctuated heavily during the year but 
rallied strongly towards the end of the period, particularly 
in the final quarter. Equities delivered a return of 17.4% 
(-10.3) and contributed 8.8 (-5.3) percentage points to 
total return. The equity portfolio also benefited from 
being overweight in Asian and european markets. Return 
outperformed the MSCI All Country World Index by 0.4 
percentage points. Asian equities excluding Japan were the 
top performers, posting a return of almost 23%. Returns 
were lowest on North American equities, which recorded a 
return of 15%. The return on Swedish equities was 16%.

The unlisted equity market saw a high level of activity 
in 2012, with disposals by underlying funds resulting in 
substantial distributions to investors. American buyout 
funds were the largest source of distributions. During the 
year, AP3 also divested a couple of its secondary market 
holdings, a move that generated additional cash flow. 
Return on AP3’s unlisted equity assets totalled 11%.

Fixed income
The fixed income risk category comprises investments in 
government bonds, government guaranteed bonds and 
supranational bonds.  AP3’s exposure to government bonds 
rose from 10% to 14% in 2012, with holdings consisting 
primarily of exposures to swedish bonds and Us treasury 
bills. Exposure to countries in southern Europe suffering the 
impact of the debt crisis totalled 0.1% of fund capital and 
related to bonds guaranteed by the spanish government. 
Average duration was around 2.5 (2.5) years. Some 92% (75) 
of investments were in bonds assigned the top Aaa rating 
by Moody’s.

The fixed income risk category recorded a return of 1.9% 
(0.8), equating to a contribution of 0.3 percentage points 
(0.1) to the portfolio’s total return. Falling bond yields in 
Sweden and the US had a positive impact on return.
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credits
the credits risk category primarily comprises swedish 
mortgage bonds and investment grade corporate bonds in 
sweden and the Us. It also includes secured bank loans. 

During the year AP3 reduced its holdings in swedish 
mortgage bonds, cutting credits exposure from 21% to 13% 
of fund capital. We also increased investments in secured 
bank loan funds, especially those exposed to the Us market. 
The credit portfolio had a longer duration – 2.0 years (3.5) 
at year-end – than the fixed income portfolio. 

Lower bond yields and narrower spreads had a positive 
impact on performance. Credits generated a return of 6.4% 
(7.5) and contributed 0.9 percentage points (1.0) to total 
return.

Inflation
The inflation risk category groups investments in Swedish 
and index-linked bonds along with holdings in real estate, 
timberland, agricultural land and infrastructure assets. The 
inflation risk category was expanded during 2012.

During the year, AP3 invested SEK 1,340 million in 
German residential real estate through participation in a 
consortium of investors led by Patrizia Immobilien AG. New 
investments in infrastructure assets and timberland were 
also made. In December 2012, AP3 signed a contract with 
Kungsleden to acquire the outstanding 50 percent of the 
equity in Hemsö Fastighets. Subject to approval from the 
Swedish Competition Authority, the deal was completed in 
the first quarter of 2013. The purchase price was SEK 3,400 
million. 

The inflation risk category recorded a return of 5.0% 
(13.5), equivalent to a contribution of 0.9 percentage 
points (1.9) to AP3’s total return. The real estate portfolio 
generated a return of 14.8% (15%). The year-end valuation 
of the Hemsö holding was based on the transaction with 
Kungsleden.

Currencies
the currency risk category comprises AP3’s exposure to 
changes in foreign exchange rates against the swedish 
krona. these holdings relate to investments in foreign 
assets not hedged in swedish kronor and in direct currency 
positions. Currency positions are taken to increase returns 
or reduce risk in the total portfolio. 

Currencies contributed -1.2 percentage points (-0.2) to 
total return. 

Currency risk usually shows a negative covariance with 
equity risk and thus helps to diversify the portfolio. AP3 
actively deployed this diversification effect in 2012 to 
reduce portfolio risk, raising currency exposure from 19% 
to 22% during the year.

the swedish krona strengthened appreciably against most 
major currencies in 2012, notably against both the US dollar 
and the euro. since foreign currency investments are worth 
less in Swedish kronor when the krona gains value relative 
to the market, the krona’s gains during the year saw this risk 
category make a negative contribution to overall return.

Other exposure
the other exposure risk category consists of investments 
that include combinations of different risk categories, such 
as convertible bonds, insurance-related bonds, volatility 
strategies and hedge funds. During the year AP3 increased 
allocations to volatility strategies as an alternative to equity 
exposure. Returns on these positions depend on actual 
volatility in relation to expected, or implicit, volatility. 
Investments in insurance-related bonds rose by SEK 1,000 
million and allocations were also made to hedge funds.

the other exposure risk category posted a return of 
30.6% (3.9) and contributed 0.6 percentage points (0.0) to 
total return.

Absolute return strategies
the absolute return strategies risk category covers man-
dates that set out to generate an absolute return. AP3 does 
not allocate assets to this risk category; instead, the Board 
of Directors allocates a risk management mandate that sets 
an operating framework. The aim is to achieve low covari-
ance with the Fund’s total risk. Absolute return strategies 
consist of around 30 mandates managed by internal and 
external managers. 

Return on these strategies in 2012 totalled SEK 1,025 
million (107), equivalent to a contribution of 0.5 percentage 
points (0.1) to the total portfolio. Average risk utilisation 
measured as VaR amounted to SEK 64.3 million (82.3).

As of 2010, AP3 no longer conducts traditional active 
management. Had this active management still existed, 
it would have included absolute return strategies and the 
active return generated by the liquid portfolio of equities 
and fixed income instruments. In 2012, these contributed a 
combined return of SEK 1,983 million (55) to overall return, 
equivalent to 0.9 percentage points (0.03).Measured over 
a three-year period, active management made an aver-
age annual contribution of SEK 939 million. This can be 
compared to AP3’s annual expenses, which averaged SEK 
282 million in the same period. Besides covering aggregate 
expenses, active management also generated an average 
gain of SEK 657 million per year.
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eXPenSeS
AP3 strives for high cost-effectiveness in asset management 
operations, which means that overheads should generate 
value in terms of higher income or lower risk. We deploy a 
high level of diversification, which involves spreading our 
capital across a range of different asset types, geographic 
regions, investment horizons and management strategies 
in order to achieve a stable income flow and higher risk-
adjusted returns.

Transaction costs
Transaction costs are those directly related to asset 
purchases and sales. they impact directly on the returns 
generated by those assets and hence also net income from 
financial transactions in the income statement. Brokerage 
fees are payable on share purchases. They totalled SEK 33 
million (36) in 2012, with 34% (47) arising from our external 
management operations. For fixed income and currency 
transactions, the transaction cost is expressed as a spread 
between the buying and selling rates. the table on page 
48 shows a breakdown of brokerage fees and transaction 
volumes for 2012.

commission expenses
Commission expenses are those closely related to the 
purchase of an asset. Performance-based fees for external 
management mandates are a form of profit-sharing between 
AP3 and the fund manager, payable if the manager outper-
forms a fixed target. These fees have a direct impact on the 
returns generated by assets under management and hence 
net income from financial transactions in the income state-
ment. Performance-based fees totalled SEK 114 million (110) 
during the year. 

Fixed commissions are administrative charges for external 
asset management mandates and costs for custody accounts 
and other transaction-related services. They are in propor-
tion to the value of the underlying capital and are expensed 
under operating income in the income statement. 

Commission expenses totalled SEK 119 million (89) in 
2012, with the year-on-year increase attributable primar-
ily to a restructuring of mandates during 2011, when few 
transactions were completed. New agreements were signed 
at the end of 2011 and early in 2012. The ratio of externally 
managed assets stood at 36% (35). AP3 assigns assets to 
external managers when it deems that this approach will 
offer higher cost-effectiveness. AP3’s externally managed as-
sets are primarily unlisted equities and equities in emerging 
markets, north America and Asia.

For some types of unlisted equity management mandates, 
such as for private equity and real estate funds, agreements 
are in place to ensure that management fees are repaid 
before the manager receives a share of the profit. These 
management fees are added to the cost of the assets and are 
recognised in the income statement under net income from 
financial transactions.

Income and expenses for external management of
 unlisted equities, excluding direct real estate investments

SEK m
Unlisted 

equities 2012
 Unlisted 

equities 2011

Income, dividends and realised and  
unrealised gains 1,061 1,255
Management fees recognised as  
commission expenses -20 -23
Management fees recognised in the  
balance sheet -100 -196
Net income 941 1,036
Assets under management at 31 Dec 17,969 16,534

Outstanding investment commitments 3,350 4,158

Operating expenses
AP3 recognises internal costs as an operating expense in the 
income statement. Staff costs accounted for 64% of operat-
ing expenses in 2012. The other major items were costs for 
market data and systems support. In 2012 AP3 implemented 
a major upgrade of the WallstreetSuite (WSS) portfolio man-
agement system that is the Fund’s core enterprise application 
platform, registering all transactions, aggregating the Fund’s 
positions and providing daily valuations. The upgrade in-
curred increased costs of SEK 9 million for software, licences 
and consultants. 

Commission expenses totalled SEK 183 million (155), 
with the year-on-year increase being attributable mainly to 
the Wss upgrade and the absence of a provision for variable 
remuneration in 2011 because the Fund recorded negative 
returns that year.
 
Operating and commission expenses 2008-2012
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AP3’s expenses compared to other funds
AP3’s costs are low by international standards. The Fund has 
for a number of years participated in an annual benchmark-
ing survey by Canadian consultants CEM to evaluate the cost 
effectiveness of international pension funds. CEM examines 
the total cost of asset management operations, the value of 
assets under management, the portfolio mix and exposure 
to active management, comparing AP3 with 17 pension 
funds from five countries and with similar asset manage-
ment profiles. CEM’s latest study, based on figures for 2011, 
shows AP3’s total asset management costs to be around 
30% lower than the reference group. This is largely because 
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AP3 has a higher ratio of internally managed assets and a 
lower ratio of actively managed assets than the reference 
group – and because AP3 also pays less for external manage-
ment mandates. It falls to AP3, as a swedish state pension 
fund manager, to strive constantly to keep costs in check and 
commensurate with the services the Fund pays for.  

AP3’s costs compared to the CEM reference group 2007-2011
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In 2011 the government commissioned global consulting 
firm McKinsey to evaluate the operations of the AP funds. 
The McKinsey report benchmarked the costs of AP1, AP2, 
AP3 and AP4 against those of seven large international pen-
sion funds – an analysis that confirmed AP3’s costs to be low 
by international standards.1 

Interaction with other AP funds
When Parliament approved the establishment of four 
separate buffer funds, the objective was to diversify risk and 
establish a climate of healthy competition by directing each 
fund to manage its assets autonomously. Separation was 
also seen as important for avoiding an excessive concentra-
tion of financial power in the hands of a single player. 

These objectives are not incompatible with coopera-
tion between the funds in specific areas to save costs and 
promote resource efficiency. 

AP3 interacts with the other AP funds not just through 
the Ethical Council but also in human resources and staff 
remuneration and benefits. This has resulted in joint policies 
for remuneration, benefits, entertainment and business 
travel and issues connected to new financial market regula-
tions. The funds have also worked together to examine the 
impact of new rules for derivatives clearing in the US and 
Europe, new tax US legislation, and new regulations on 
shorting equities and government bonds.

RiSK mAnAGemenT
AP3’s core business is the management of financial risk to 
create returns. Risks should be deliberate, prudent, correctly 
priced and within the operating framework. Risks and 
risk levels are authorised in accordance with the National 
Pension Funds Act and under the risk framework set by the 
Board and internal limits implemented by the CeO. together, 
these frameworks provide the parameters for the Fund to 
achieve its investment targets.

General risk analysis
AP3 bases effective risk management and control on a 
general risk analysis process which sets a framework for 
identifying and measuring risk in all areas and makes it 
possible to act to reduce risk as and when appropriate. 
Executive management is responsible for the risk analysis, 
which is based on self-assessment and seeks to promote 
high risk awareness and a prudent approach to risk within 
the organisation. 

the Fund uses the risk analysis when drawing up operat-
ing and resource plans for the coming year. Priority risks 
and action plans are submitted to the Audit Committee and 
Board of Directors on an annual basis.

Risks are categorised in four areas
   Strategic risk – risk relating to AP3’s mission, objectives 

and administrative management.

   Business risk – financial risk arising in relation to invest-
ing activities.

   Operating risk – risk relating to processes, systems, 
human resources, legislation and legal compliance.

   Reputation risk – incidents with the potential to damage 
the Fund’s reputation in the eyes of the government, 
Parliament and the general public.

Risk management
AP3’s operating activities involve exposing capital assets to 
financial risk to achieve returns. Targets for return are set on 
the basis of AP3’s mission and role within the pension sys-
tem and are to be achieved through controlled risk taking. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting these 
targets and the Fund’s risk tolerance by issuing general op-
erating rules and guidelines. The Board also sets the overall 
risk level and general exposure and risk limits for the seven 
risk categories: Equities, Fixed Income, Credits, Inflation, 
Currencies, Other exposure and Absolute Return strategies.

The Audit Committee has an advisory and oversight 
role on the Board’s behalf in matters relating to financial 
reporting and accounting, internal control, risk management 
and audit. The committee reports directly to the Board. For 
further information see the Governance Report on the AP3 
website.

1  Government annual review, appendix 8
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the CeO and responsible managers are in charge of 
identifying, analysing and prioritising risk, forecasting 
projected returns and risk, and allocating risk mandates 
between different asset categories and strategies based on 
the Fund’s return targets. each manager is responsible for 
managing the risk attached to his or her mandate in order 
to achieve targets within specified limits. Limits can be 
expressed as the size of a position, Value at Risk,1 tracking 
error1 or other measure relevant to the structure of the 
mandate. They can also be expressed as consultation levels 
and sometimes as stop loss1 – levels to limit the risk of loss 
on a specific mandate. 

AP3’s Middle Office is in charge of identifying and 
measuring risk and is responsible for internal risk control. 
Controls are made to ensure that mandates are followed 
and that exposure and risk remain within approved guide-
lines and limits.

the Compliance department is in charge of ensuring that 
the Fund abides by legal and ethical risks, in line with the 
rules, and of coordinating self-assessment of operating risks.

Return targets  
and risk tolerance Board of Directors

Risk management CEO, Strategic Allocation

Risk owners Managers

Risk control Middle Office

Regulatory compliance Compliance

Financial risk
The primary investment risks are market, credit and liquidity 
risk.  

Market risk Credit risk Liquidity risk

Equity price risk Issuer risk Rollover risk

Interest rate risk Counterparty risk Refinancing risk 

Currency risk Settlement risk 

Inflation risk 

  Market risk is the risk that the value of an asset may fall 
due to changes in asset prices on the financial markets, for 
example changes in equity prices, bond yields and currencies. 

Market risk can be measured as variations in outcome 
and is often expressed as a standard deviation1 (known as 
volatility on an annualised basis). AP3 tracks market risk 
on a daily basis, both at general level and for individual 
mandates, by using the VaR1 metric, different types of 
stress test and sensitivity analysis. VaR is a forward-looking 
measure of risk that estimates the probability of changes in 
portfolio returns over a given time frame based on existing 
positions and historic market movements. Market risks are 
the principal risks attached to the AP3 portfolio. The Fund 
generates investment returns by managing market risk 
within specific limits.

  Credit risk is the risk of incurring a loss due to the failure of 
a borrower or counterparty to meet repayment obligations.

Issuer risk is the risk of a security issuer defaulting by 
failing to meet obligations on the maturity date.

Counterparty risk is the risk of a counterparty being un-
able to fulfil obligations relating to derivatives and currency 
transactions and deposits and buybacks. AP3 actively seeks 
to minimise counterparty risk by selecting counterparties 
with a good credit rating.1 The Fund requires counterparties 
to sign an IsDA agreement1 that regulates how receivables 
and liabilities are to be managed if either side cannot fulfil 
its commitments. AP3 also insists on a CsA agreement,1 
which requires a counterparty with an outstanding liability 
to provide security in cash or securities.

Settlement risk arises when transactions are settled in 
cases where the parties have not fulfilled their commit-
ments simultaneously. Where possible, AP3 eliminates 
delivery risks on currency transaction through CLS,1 a system 
that permits simultaneous settlement of transactions 
through an independent third party.

  Liquidity risk is the risk that AP3 cannot make intended 
or necessary changes to the portfolio structure without 
incurring excessive transaction costs, so called rollover 
risk. Generally speaking, the Fund’s most liquid assets are 
equities and government bonds with a high credit rating. 
Corporate bonds, unlisted equities and real estate are usu-
ally less liquid. AP3 manages liquidity risk via a balanced mix 
of asset types with both high and low liquidity. For refinanc-
ing risk the Fund monitors future payment obligations 
versus available liquidity to minimise the risk of excessive 
financing costs. 

1  see Glossary
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cORPORATe STeWARDSHiP  
AP3’s corporate stewardship policy takes a conservative line 
on variable remuneration to senior executives, in line with 
guidelines issued by the government in 2009. The guidelines 
state that ”in entities in which the AP funds are direct or 
indirect shareholders, the AP funds and the entity should 
work with other shareholders to ensure that the guidelines 
are applied to the greatest possible extent”. the Board of 
Directors regularly reviews the Fund’s corporate steward-
ship policy, most recently in 2011. AP3 engages companies 
in dialogue to express opinions on incentive programmes. 

The Fund voted at 64 (52) Swedish general meetings 
during the 2011/12 AGM season and held seats on 6 (8) 
nomination committees: Aerocrine, Arise Windpower, 
Bergvik Skog, BioInvent, Karolinska Development and Orexo. 
The Fund voted at 502 (399) foreign AGMs and voted against 
or abstained on 66% (75) of AGM resolutions on remunera-
tion, reflecting the fact that foreign entities struggle to meet 
the Fund’s requirements on executive remuneration.

the Fund published a report on its corporate steward-
ship activities in August 2012. The report, available on the 
website, documents AP3’s AGM-related actions as well as 
engagements in environmental and social responsibility. 

through dialogue, the Fund aims to ensure that the 
companies in which it has large holdings have appropriate 
ethical and environmental policies, effective risk manage-
ment systems and codes of conduct and managers in charge 
of sustainability-related affairs. The objective here is to 
reduce the risk of the organisation breaching international 
conventions. AP3 encourages enterprises to analyse and 
review their environmental footprint and implement targets 
to reduce emissions and other adverse impacts. During the 
year the Fund engaged in dialogue with 17 (10) Swedish 
companies on social responsibility.

AP3 cooperates via a joint ethical Council with AP1, AP2 
and AP4 on issues of environmental and social responsibility 
in foreign entities. The Ethical Council pursues a strategy of 
active stewardship to influence foreign entities in this field. 
In 2011 the Ethical Council engaged in proactive and reactive 
dialogue with 120 foreign firms and had indirect contacts 
with a further 100 companies via its ethical-business 
consultant. The Ethical Council also participated in various 
international investor initiatives on issues such as corrup-
tion, climate change, working conditions and child labour. 
The Ethical Council will publish its 2012 report in the first 
half of 2013.

ORGAniSATiOn AnD emPLOyeeS  
At year-end, AP had 56 (57) employees, of whom 20 were 
female and 36 were male. On average, AP3 employees 19 
years of professional experience. Four individuals left the 
Fund in 2012 and three new employees joined. Sickness 
absence remained low at 0.7% (0.5).

Remuneration
AP3’s remuneration guidelines aim to guarantee the Fund’s 
ability to attract and retain skilled staff. Total remuneration 
should be reasonable and appropriate. Remuneration levels 
should be market-based and competitive without leading 
the market. Employee remuneration is covered by the 
government’s guidelines on salary and benefits to AP fund 
staff.

The Remuneration Committee handles remuneration 
issues on behalf of the Board of Directors, including the 
remuneration and benefits of the CEO. Decisions are subject 
to final approval by the Board. The remuneration and 
benefits of other senior executives are approved individually 
by the Remuneration Committee based on the CEO’s advice. 
The Remuneration Committee also sets the remuneration 
framework for other employees, using annual market wage 
data to ensure that remuneration of all employees is market-
based, competitive and reasonable. 

During the year the Remuneration Committee reviewed 
the remuneration structure and salary levels for all staff 
based on data from comparable markets. the reference 
group comprised pension funds, asset management 
divisions of major commercial banks, and government-
owned companies and agencies with financial operations. 
Separately, AP3 asked the professional services firm Towers 
Watson to benchmark the salaries of all Fund employees. 
The Towers Watson study categorised every position based 
on level, function and discipline and evaluated it against 
different variables. Sixteen companies and public bodies 
took part.

In addition, the Fund commissioned Strive Advisory, a 
Swedish-based pay efficiency specialist, to conduct an in-
depth analysis of the remuneration of senior managers. This 
study examined the pay and benefits of senior executives in 
22 companies and public bodies.

Both reports showed that the majority of AP3’s employ-
ees have remuneration either in line with or just below the 
market average, with differences reflecting varying levels 
of experience, age, expertise and performance among the 
study samples. The findings demonstrated that AP3 has an 
individualised and differentiated pay structure that sets 
remuneration levels based on expertise, responsibility and 
performance in line with the Fund’s own guidelines. the 
Remuneration Committee therefore takes the view that the 
pay structure and remuneration levels of all Fund employees 
are market-based, competitive without leading the market, 
and reasonable and appropriate.
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Hence, the Board of Directors is of the opinion that the 
Fund complies with the government’s pay guidelines and 
that no exceptions exist that require separate reporting.

In the context of its importance as a manager of state 
pension assets, AP3 is subject to strict conditions requiring it 
to exercise good judgement and transparency in its opera-
tions. During the year the AP3 Board decided to review the 
Fund’s internal staff guidelines in response to the public 
scrutiny of pay and benefits of AP fund employees that took 
place during the summer. the chairmen of all the AP funds 
also agreed to harmonise the funds’ guidelines to achieve 
a more uniform framework and to adopt a joint policy on 
staff remuneration, benefits, work-related hospitality and 
business trips. The policy is available (in Swedish) on the AP3 
website.

GOVeRnmenT ReVieW  
the government’s annual review of the AP funds’ operat-
ing activities highlighted the fact that the funds had not 
achieved their long-term targets. the review did note that 
AP3’s returns for 2001-2011 outperformed the income 
index, albeit by a slimmer margin since 2010 due to weak 
equity markets, and that the AP funds had continued to 
develop their strategies and asset management models to 
achieve greater stability in investment returns and create 
portfolios capable of coping with market turbulence.

Furthermore, the review observed that AP1, AP2, AP3 
and AP4 had continued to strengthen and develop their 
efforts to promote environmental and social responsibil-
ity by integrating these issues in their asset management 
operations. The government saw this as a positive step and 
also praised the Ethical Council’s collaboration with AP7 over 
a preventive initiative to raise standards of environmental 
and social responsibility in the mining industry. the review 
highlighted the importance of transparency and communi-
cation, acknowledging the Ethical Council’s annual report 
and the funds’ stewardship reports and websites as good 
examples.

fUnD GOVeRnAnce RePORT
the fund governance report is separate from the annual 
report and is published together with the annual report on 
the Fund’s website at www.ap3.se. the fund governance 
report has not been reviewed by the Fund’s auditors.
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Income statement

incOme

SEK m note 2012 2011

net interest income 2 3,771 3,697

Dividends received 3,183 3,338

net income from listed shares and investments 3 13,518 -15,854

net income from unlisted shares and investments 4 2,468 2,407

Net income from fixed income assets 1,273 2,001

Net income from derivatives 5 1,078 -375

net income from currencies -2,351 -453

net commission expenses 6 -119 -89

Total income 22,821 -5,328

OPeRATinG eXPenSeS

Staff costs 7 -117 -104

Other administrative expenses 8 -66 -51

Total operating expenses -183 -155

Profit/loss for the year 22,638 -5,483
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Balance sheet

ASSeTS

SEK m note 31-12-2012 31-12-2011

shares and investments

 Listed 9 112,954 107,087

 Unlisted 10 24,812 21,346

Bonds and other fixed income assets 11 99,226 93,077

Derivatives 12 2,565 1,802

Cash and cash equivalents 1,668 1,520

Other assets 13 17,072 10,018

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 14 1,913 1,842

Total assets 260,210 236,692

fUnD cAPiTAL AnD LiAbiLiTieS

Liabilities

Derivatives 12 556 2,774

Other liabilities  15 26,640 19,751

Deferred income and accrued expenses 16 58 61

Total liabilities 27,254 22,586

Fund capital

Fund capital at 1 Jan 17 214,106 220,829

Net payments to national pension system -3,788 -1,240

Profit/loss for the year 22,638 -5,483

Total fund capital 232,956 214,106

Total fund capital and liabilities 260,210 236,692

Memorandum items 18

bALAnce SHeeT
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nOTeS TO THe finAnciAL STATemenTS 

nOTeS TO THe incOme STATemenT AnD bALAnce SHeeT
The Third Swedish National Pension Fund (AP3), corporate identity number 
802014-4120, is one of the buffer funds of the Swedish pension system and is 
headquartered in Stockholm. The Board of Directors approved the annual 
financial statements for 2012 on 19 February 2013. The income statement and 
balance sheet are subject to government approval. 

  NOTE 1 Accounting and valuation policies
The National Pension Funds Act (2000:192) requires the annual accounts to be 
prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, which 
involves recognition of fund assets at market value. AP1, AP2, AP3 and AP4 have 
agreed and applied shared accounting and valuation policies, as summarised 
below. Accounting and valuation policies are unchanged from the prior year. 

The AP funds are adapting their accounting and valuation policies to 
the  International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The IFRS are under 
 extensive review and hitherto the funds have therefore focused on adapting 
to IFRS 7  Financial  Instruments: Disclosures. Full adjustment to IFRS would not 
 significantly affect reported income and capital. The following differences have 
been identified compared to currently effective IFRS: 
• The AP funds do not value financial instruments at buying and selling rates but 

at the rates quoted on the chosen index (often mid-rates). 
• Transaction costs, including brokerage fees, are recognised as part of the cost of 

financial instruments and are recognised in income at fair value. 
• AP3 does not prepare consolidated financial statements or a cash flow statement.

Transaction day accounting
Purchases and sales of securities and derivatives on the money, bond, equity and 
currency markets are recognised in the balance sheet on the transaction date 
(the point when material rights, and therefore risks, are transacted between the 
parties). Receivables and liabilities that fall between the transaction and settle-
ment dates are reported under other assets and other liabilities respectively. 
Other transactions, especially relating to unlisted equities, are recognised in the 
balance sheet on the settlement date, in conformity with market norms.

Net accounting
AP3 uses net accounting for trade payables, buybacks and derivative instruments 
where a real right to offset assets and liabilities exists and if the intention is to 
settle them simultaneously.

Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are shown in Swedish kronor at the exchange rate 
on the transaction date. Foreign currency assets and liabilities are recognised in 
swedish kronor at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 

Changes in the values of foreign currency-denominated assets are divided into 
the change attributable to the change in the value of the asset or liability and the 
change caused by exchange rate movements. exchange rate gains or losses aris-
ing due to exchange rate changes are recognised in the income statement under 
net income from currencies.

Shareholdings in subsidiaries and associates
shareholdings in subsidiaries and associates are recognised at fair value, in con-
formity with the National Pension Funds Act. Fair value is measured using the 
same method as for unlisted shares and investments. There is no requirement to 
prepare consolidated financial statements.

Measurement of financial instruments
All the Fund’s investments are measured at fair value. Realised and unrealised 
changes in value are recognised in the income statement. Hence, items presented 
under net income per asset category include realised and unrealised income. 

The financial statements include references to benchmark indices. Details of 
these can be found at see www.ap3.se.

the method for measuring fair value is described below.

Listed shares and investments
Shares and investments traded on a regulated market or trading platform are 
measured using the price quoted by the the relevant index vendor. This price 
is often the mid-rate. Holdings that are not included in an index are valued at 
listed prices observable in an active market. Brokerage fees are recognised in net 
income for listed equities. 

Unlisted shares and investments
Shares and investments not traded on a regulated market or trading platform are 
measured at fair value based on the valuation received from the counterparty or 
other external party. Valuations are updated when new valuations are received 
and are adjusted for cash flows up to the reporting date. The Fund may revise a 
valuation where strong grounds exist for believing that the valuation is wrong. 
Measurements follow the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valu-
ation (IPEV) guidelines or equivalent valuation principles and are generally based 
on transactions with third parties. However, other valuation methods, such as 

discounted cash flow, the net asset value method and multiple valuation, can be 
applied.

Unlisted real estate shares are measured on the basis of their net asset value, 
provided they have not been transacted on a secondary market.

Bonds and other fixed income assets
Fair value of bonds and other fixed income assets is measured using the  official 
 market price (usually the bid rate) quoted by the Fund’s index supplier.  Holdings 
that are not included in an index are valued at listed prices observable in an 
 active  market. Where an instrument is not traded on an active market and reliable 
 market  prices are unavailable, the instrument is measured using generally accepted 
 valuation models, whereby cash flow is discounted to the relevant valuation curve. 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method based on 
 amortised cost. Amortised cost is the discounted present value of future pay-
ments where the discount rate corresponds to the effective interest rate at the 
time of purchase. Acquired premiums and discounts are recognised as interest 
 income until the coupon rate changes or the instrument matures. They are recog-
nised in interest income.

Derivatives
The fair value of derivatives is measured using rates on the reporting date. In  cases 
where instruments are not traded in an active market and no market prices are 
available, valuations are made using generally accepted theoretical models whose 
inputs consist exclusively of observable market data. 

Derivative contracts with a positive fair value on the reporting date are recog-
nised as assets, while contracts with a negative market value are recognised as 
 liabilities. The difference between forward and spot rates for currency forwards is 
allocated on a straight-line basis during the term of the contract and is recognised 
as interest income.

Buybacks
In a true buyback (repurchase), the asset remains on the balance sheet and 
cash received is recognised as a liability. the divested security is reported under 
pledged assets on the balance sheet. The cash value difference between spot and 
forward legs accrues during the maturity period and is reported as interest.   

Securities lending
Loaned securities are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value and consider-
ation received is recognised as interest income in the income statement. Collat-
eral received for loaned securities may consist of securities and/or cash. Where 
AP3 has the right to dispose over cash collateral received, this is recognised in 
the balance sheet as an asset and a corresponding liability is created. In  other 
cases, loaned securities are recognised not in the balance sheet but separately 
as ”Pledged assets, contingent liabilities and commitments”. The value of loaned 
securities and the collateral paid to secure them are also recognised  under this 
item.

Items recognised directly in fund capital
Payments to and from the pension system are recognised directly in fund capital.

commission expenses
Commission expenses are recognised as a deduction from operating income in 
the income statement. They consist of direct transaction costs, such as  custody 
 account fees and fixed commissions to external managers, and fixed  commissions 
for exchange-traded funds. Performance-based fees, payable when a  manager 
produces returns above an agreed level and where profit sharing applies, are 
 recognised as a deduction from net income for the relevant asset class in the 
 income statement. 

Management fees for unlisted shares and investments deemed  repayable 
 prior to profit sharing, and where repayment is likely, are recognised in cost 
and included in unrealised income. In other cases, they are recognised as 
 commission expenses.

Operating expenses
All management expenses, excluding brokerage fees, fees to external managers and 
custody account fees, are recognised as operating expenses. Investments in equip-
ment and proprietary and purchased computer software are normally expensed as 
they arise.  

Taxes
AP3 is exempt from all income tax on investments in sweden. Dividend and coupon 
taxes payable in some countries are recognised on a net basis in the relevant in-
come category in the income statement. As of 2012, AP3 is VAT-registered and 
 liable to pay value added tax on purchases outside Sweden. AP3 is not entitled to 
reclaim VAt outlays. VAt is expensed under the relevant item.

Rounding off 
Minor discrepancies may occur in the tables in this report due to the rounding up 
or down of individual figures.
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 nOTe 2 Net interest income 

SEK m 2012 2011
inTeReST incOme

Bonds and fixed income assets 2,129 2,314
Derivatives 1,636 1,632
Securities lending, equities 72 70
Securities lending, bonds 16 28
Other interest income 4 18
Total interest income 3,857 4,062

inTeReST eXPenSe

Derivatives 86 365
Other interest expenses 0 0
Total interest expense 86 365

Net interest income 3,771 3,697

 nOTe 4 Net income from unlisted shares and investments

SEK m 2012 2011
net capital gain 1,605 463
Unrealised changes in value 863 1,944
Net income from unlisted shares and investments 2,468 2,407

 nOTe 3 Net income from listed shares and investments

SEK m 2012 2011
Income from listed shares and investments 13,665 -15,708
Brokerage fees -33 -36
Performance-based fees -114 -110
Net income from listed shares and investments 13,518 -15,854

 nOTe 5 Net income from derivatives

SEK m 2012 2011
Share-based derivatives 952 -683
Fixed income and credit-based derivatives 126 308
Net income from derivatives 1,078 -375

 nOTe 6 Commission expenses

SEK m 2012 2011
external commissions, listed assets 87 57
external commissions, unlisted assets 20 23
Other commission expenses incl. custodian  
bank costs 12 9
Total commission expenses 119 89

Performance-based fees totalled SEK 114 million (110), of which SEK 114 million 
(110) related to listed equities and SEK 0 million (0) to fixed income securities. 
Performance-based fees are recognised in net income for each asset class. 

Underlying commissions for total return swaps (TRS)1 are not recognised in 
commission expenses but as a change in value under ”net income, derivatives”. 
Underlying TRS expenses were SEK 9 million (14) in 2012. 

AP3 paid SEK 120 million (237) in management fees for unlisted equities in 
2012. SEK 100 million (196) of this related to contracts that provide for repayment 
of management fees prior to profit sharing at the end of the investment and is 
recognised as part of the asset’s cost. 

1 see Glossary.

 nOTe 7 Continued

Staff costs in SEK thousand, 
2012

salaries 
and 

remu-
neration

Variable 
remu-

neration

Pension 
plan 

expenses

social 
security 

expenses 
incl. special 
payroll tax total

Chairman of the Board, 
Pär nuder

 110    34    144   

Other directors
sonat Burman-Olsson 72 22  94  
Björn Börjesson  96    30    126   
Inga-Lill Carlberg  50    16    66   
Gunvor engström  50    16    66   
Lars Ernsäter  60    19    79   
Peter Hellberg  60    19    79   
Kari Lotsberg  77    24    101   
elisabeth Unell (from June 
2012)

 25    8    33   

Directors who stood down in 2012
Ingela Gardner sundström  25    2    27   
Total  625  190 815

CEO Kerstin Hessius  3,754    1,176    1,465   6,395   
Other executive management 
members
Gustav Hagerund  2,800    791    1,072   4,663   
Christina Kusoffsky Hillesöy  1,280    393    498   2,171   
Mårten Lindeborg  2,038    573    779   3,390   
Katarina Utterström  1,717    522    666   2,905   
Total executive management 
excl. CEO

 7,835    2,279    3,015   13,129   

Other employees  51,896    4,738    14,882    21,228   92,744   

Total  63,485    4,738    18,337    25,708   112,268
Other staff costs  4,401   4,401   
Total staff costs  68,511    4,738    18,337    25,898    117,484   

 
 
 
Staff costs in SEK thousand, 
2011

salaries 
and 

remu-
neration

Variable 
remu-

neration

Pension 
plan 

expenses

social 
security 

expenses  
incl. special 
payroll tax total

Chairman of the Board, 
Pär nuder

 60    19    79   

Other directors
sonat Burman-Olsson  71    22    93   
Björn Börjesson  38    12    50   
Inga-Lill Carlberg  50    16    66   
Gunvor engström  50    16    66   
Lars Ernsäter  60    19    79   
Ingela Gardner sundström  60    6    66   
Peter Hellberg  71    22    93   
Kari Lotsberg  76    24    100   
Directors who stood down in 2011
Claes de neergaard 
(Chairman)

 50    16    66   

Lars G Josefsson  38    12    50   
Total  624    184   808

CEO Kerstin Hessius  3,623    1,143    1,415   6,181  
Other executive management 
members
Gustaf Hagerud  2,739    734    1,039   4,512  
Christina Kusoffsky Hillesöy  1,205    344    462   2,011  
Adriano Pizzignacco  1,033    308    399   1,740  
Katarina Utterström  1,570    454    603   2,627  
Total executive management 
excl. CEO

6,547 1,840 2,503 10,890

Other employees  49,464    14,091    18,819   82,374  
Total  59,634    17,074    22,737   99 445
Other staff costs  4,114   4,114
Total staff costs  64,372    -      17,074    22,921    104,367   

 nOTe 7 Employees
2012 2011

total
total 

female total 
total 

female 
Average no. of employees 55 19 57 20
no. of employees at 31 Dec 56 20 57 20
No. in executive management at 31 Dec 5 3 5 3
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 nOTe 7 Continued

 Board of Directors The government sets the remuneration of directors. As 
of 2000, annual fees of SEK 100 thousand are paid to the Chairman, SEK 75 
thousand to the Deputy Chairman and SEK 50 thousand to other directors. The 
government has approved additional remuneration of up to SEK 100 thousand 
for directors who sit on the Remuneration and Audit Committees. Remuneration 
of SEK 100 thousand was paid for committee engagements in 2012.

  Committees Remuneration Committee had three members in 2012. It makes 
recommendations to the Board on the CEO’s salary and benefits and AP3’s salary 
structure prior to salary reviews. It also makes recommendations to the Board 
on the variable remuneration programme. Decisions in these matters are taken 
by the Board. The Audit Committee has three members and its role is to monitor 
and issue recommendations to the Board in financial reporting, accounting, 
internal control, risk management and external audit.

  CEO’s remuneration The Board sets the salary and benefits of the CEO. Under 
the CEO’s employment contract, the Fund pays retirement pension and sickness 
insurance premiums totalling 30% of gross salary. In the event of termination, 
the contractual notice period is six months for both the Fund and the CEO. If the 
Fund terminates the CeO’s contract, 18 months’ severance pay may be payable. 
Severance salary and pay are to be offset against any income from new employ-
ment or business activity. No contract provisions exist for early retirement. In 
2012 the CEO received other benefits of less than SEK 2 thousand. The CEO does 
not participate in the performance-based incentive scheme.

 Executive management committee excl. CEO The executive management 
committee consists of the CEO and the heads of Asset Management (Deputy 
CEO), Strategic Allocation, Business Support & Control and Communications 
& Sustainable Investments. AP3 has collective wage agreements with the 
Employers’ Organisation of the Swedish Banking Institutions and the JUSEK/
CR/CF (SACO) trade unions. The CEO and Deputy CEO are the only employees 
whose terms and conditions are outside the collective wage agreements. The 
Deputy CEO has a notice period of six months that applies to both parties. If the 
Fund terminates the Deputy CeO’s contract, 12 months’ severance pay may be 
payable. Severance salary and pay are to be offset against any income from new 
employment or business activity. No special agreements exist in respect of notice 
periods, severance pay or early retirement for other members of executive man-
agement. Members of the executive management committee received benefits 
ranging from zero to SEK 36,000. Executive management does not participate in 
the performance-based variable remuneration scheme.  

  Sickness absence Total sickness absence in 2012 was 0.7% (0.5%) – 0.4% 
(0.2%) for male employees and 1.4% (1.0%) for female employees. None (0%) 
of the Fund’s employees was away from work due to sickness for more than 60 
consecutive days in 2012.

 Performance-based remuneration programme the Board of Directors has 
approved a performance-based incentive scheme modelled on government 
guidelines issued in April 2009 and adjusted for guidelines on remuneration in 
insurance and other financial entities issued by the Financial Supervisory Author-
ity in March 2010. The programme applies as of 2012 and gives employees in the 
Asset Management department the opportunity to receive performance-based 
remuneration of up to two months’ salary on the fulfillment of specific agreed 
criteria. Sixty percent of variable remuneration is not paid until three years after 
the year in which it is earned. Employees in administrative units have the chance 
to receive variable remuneration of half a month’s salary. The Fund’s net income 
must be positive before variable remuneration can be payable to any member 
of staff. The CEO and members of the executive management committee are not 
part of the variable performance-based remuneration programme. The Fund re-
served SEK 4.7 million in the 2012 accounts for variable remuneration contingent 
on fulfillment of agreed targets. This sum was equivalent to the payment of an 
average of one extra month’s salary in variable performance-based remunera-
tion to each employee covered by the programme.

 nOTe 8 Other operating expenses

SEK m 2012 2011
Office rent 10 10
Information and computer-related expenses 36 26
services purchased 13 7
Other 7 8
Total other operating expenses 66 51

services purchased include fees to auditors. Consultancy fees for services 
ordered by the Government Offices totalled SEK 0.4 million (0.7).

SEK thousand 2012 2011
Audit assignments
Ernst & Young AB 876 907
Other assignments
Ernst & Young AB 115 238
Total  991 1,145

 

 nOTe 9 Shares and investments

31-12-2012          31-12-2011

SEK m Fair value Fair value 
Swedish equities 26,844 29,163
Investments in swedish funds 1,060 486
Foreign equities 63,294 61,771
Investments in foreign funds 21,756 15,667
Total listed shares and investments 112,954 107,087

A schedule of the Fund’s ten largest equity holdings is shown on page 48. 
A schedule of all the Fund’s equity holdings is available at www.ap3.se. 
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corporate  
identity number Reg’d office

number  
of shares

Share of  
equity capital fair value

100% 
equity 2012

100%
income 2012 

Unlisted equities in subsidiary and  
associated companies
Vasakronan Holding AB 556650-4196 stockholm 1,000,000 25% 5,131 20,524 3,025
Hemsö Fastighets AB 556779-8169 stockholm 500,000 50% 1,712 2,633 581

corporate  
identity number Reg’d office

number  
of shares

Share of  
equity capital

2012 
cost

2011 
cost

Other unlisted Swedish equities 
and investments
Bergvik skog 556610-2959 Falun 347 5% 174 174
Alpcot Agro 556710-3915 stockholm 9,874,993 10% 143 143
Affibody 556714-5601 stockholm 4,405,402 2% 19 19

five largest holdings in Swedish 
private equity firms and funds1

It Provider Fund IV 17% 127 151
Valedo Partners Fund I 20% 113 91
Litorina Capital III 11% 112 109
Verdane Capital VII 10% 89 47
Innkap 2 30% 72 73

five largest holdings in 
private equity firms and funds1

Carl Guernsey LP Inc 25% 1,340 -
RMK GAC 100% 850 850
euroPrisa 10% 469 473
Hancock GAC 100% 440 440
Southern Cone Timberland, LLC 19% 428 428
Cost of other holdings 16,331 14,575
Total cost 20,707 17,573
Total fair value 24,812 21,346

A full schedule of all holdings can be found at www.ap3.se.
1 Relates to holdings in limited partnerships and similar structures over which AP3 lacks a material influence. 

 nOTe 11 Bonds and other fixed income assets

bOnDS AnD OTHeR fiXeD incOme SecURiTieS 
by cLASS Of iSSUeR

31-12-2012 31-12-2011

SEK m Fair value Fair value 
swedish state 31,523 25,201
swedish mortgage lending 14,609 18,589
Other swedish issuers
Financial institutions 997 1,413
Non-financial companies 12,694 9,071
Foreign states 10,699 19,589
Other foreign issuers 21,730 15,487
Total 92,252 89,350
Fixed income funds 6,974 3,727
Total 99,226 93,077

 nOTe 11 Continued

bOnDS AnD OTHeR fiXeD incOme SecURiTieS 
by cLASS Of inSTRUmenT

31-12-2012 31-12-2011

SEK m Fair value Fair value 
Index-linked bonds 18,013 21,140
Other bonds 65,576 57,084
Certificates 3,743 -
Unlisted promissory note 3,750 5,355
Other instruments 1,170 5,771
Total 92,252 89,350
Fixed income funds 6,974 3,727 
Total 99,226 93,077

SEK 5,314 million (10,396) of bonds and other fixed income securities relates to 
cash collateral received for securities lending. 

 nOTe 10  Shares and investments, unlisted

As of 31 December 2012, AP3’s investment commitments in unlisted securities via private equity firms and 
funds were as follows. The schedule below shows the five largest holdings in terms of invested capital.

31-12-2012 31-12-2011

SEK m Fair value Fair value 
shares in swedish associated companies 6,843 4,811
shares in other swedish companies 774 744
Investments in Swedish private equity firms and funds 752 656
Foreign shares and investments 16,443 15,134

Total shares and investments, unlisted 24,812 21,346
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 nOTe 12 Derivatives, gross 

31-12-2012

SEK m
nominal 

value
Positive 

fair value
Negative
fair value

EQUITY-RELATED INSTRUMENTS

Options, cleared Held, buy 23 1 0
Drawn, buy 1,408 0 -7
Drawn, sell 1,333 - -50

Forwards 9,981 188 -34
swaps 7,298 12 -10
Total 20,043 201 -101
cleared 12,662

FIXED INCOME AND CREDIT-RELATED INSTRUMENTS

Options, cleared Drawn, buy 3,450 1 -
Drawn, sell 730,490 19 -21

FRAs/forwards 244,976 21 -30
CDs 21,032 235 -52
swaps 19,667 149 -139
Total 1,019,615 425 -242
cleared 978,916

CURRENCY-RELATED INSTRUMENTS
Options, OTC Held, buy 1,998 96 -

Held, sell 860 14 -
Drawn, buy 2,179 - -3
Drawn, sell 4,382 - -4

Forwards 100,709 1,901 -278
swaps - - -
Total 110,128 2,011 -285

Effect of netting - -72 72

Total derivatives 1,149,786 2,565 -556

AP3 is mandated to use derivative securities primarily to improve effectiveness in 
asset management or to manage risk.

Equity and interest rate derivatives are preferably traded on standardised 
markets through cleared products, whereby counterparty risks are limited to the 
clearing house. Cleared derivatives are recognised net in the balance sheet. 
Currency and credit derivative markets are over-the-counter, which means that 
trades executed there are not standardised or subject to clearing. thus, 
counterparty or settlement risk generally arises. Counterparties for non-cleared 
transactions are limited and sanctioned by the Board and all exposure to such 
counterparties is continuously monitored. AP3 uses standardised market 
contracts, such as IsDA agreements, for OtC trading. 

Drawn put options are positions in different options strategies taken to manage 
portfolio risk. Where a put option requires AP3 to deliver an underlying security, 
the Fund always holds enough of the underlying security to meet its delivery 
obligation.

More information on AP3’s risk management procedures for derivatives can be 
found in the risk management plan at www.ap3.se.

31-12-2011

SEK m
nominal 

value
Positive 

fair value
Negative
fair value

EQUITY-RELATED INSTRUMENTS

Options, cleared Held, buy 72 0 -
Held, sell 6,826 125 -9
Drawn, buy 5,607 - -70
Drawn, sell 6,185 - -50

Forwards 3,255 127 -100
swaps 3,726 56 -38
Total 25,671 308 -267
cleared 21,838

 nOTe 13 Other assets

SEK m 31-12-2012 31-12-2011
trade payables 1 540
Buybacks 17,071 9,471
Other assets 0 0
Other current receivables - 7
Total other assets 17,072 10,018

 nOTe 14 Prepaid expenses and accrued income

SEK m 31-12-2012 31-12-2011
Accrued interest income 1,761 1,691
Accrued dividends 72 97
tax reclaimables 35 29
Prepaid expenses 38 19
Accrued premiums on equity loans 7 6
Total prepaid expenses 
and accrued income

1,913 1,842

 nOTe 15 Other liabilities

SEK m 31-12-2012 31-12-2011
Accounts payable 7 4
trade payables 7 865
Payroll taxes 1 1
Staff PAYE taxes 2 2
Buybacks 13,536 8,475
Cash collateral received 13,076 10,404
Other liabilities 11 0
Total other liabilities 26,640 19,751

 nOTe 12 Continued

31-12-2011

SEK m
nominal 

value
Positive 

fair value
Negative
fair value

FIXED INCOME AND CREDIT-RELATED INSTRUMENTS

Options, cleared Held, sell 37,095 - -9
Drawn, buy 454 0 -
Drawn, sell 19,229 2 0

FRAs/forwards 381,013 19 -155
CDs 6,519 145 -193
swaps 13,174 62 -91
Total 457,484 228 -448
cleared 437,791

CURRENCY-RELATED INSTRUMENTS

Options Held, buy 457 0 -
Held, sell 2,496 - -13
Drawn, buy 3,613 50 -
Drawn, sell 4,997 - -42

Forwards 120,554 1,456 -2,230
swaps 54 - -14
Total 132,171 1,506 -2,299
cleared -
Effect of netting -240 240

Total derivatives 615,326 1,802 -2,774
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 nOTe 16 Deferred income and accrued expenses

SEK m 31-12-2012 31-12-2011
Accrued external asset management costs 38 50
Other accrued expenses 12 9
Variable remuneration incl. social security expenses 8 2
Total deferred income and accrued expenses 58 61

A provision for variable remuneration was made in 2010 for deferred payment 
in 2013. A provision was also made in 2012, 40% of which will be paid in 2013 
and the remainder in 2015. 

 nOTe 17 Fund capital

NET PAYMENTS TO/FROM THE PENSION SYSTEM

SEK m 31-12-2012 31-12-2011
Fund capital at 1 Jan 214,106 220,829
Paid-in pension contributions 55,441 53,895
Paid-out pension disbursements -59,005 -54,919
transfer of pension rights to the eU -5 -2
Settlement of pension rights 1 -1
Administration fee to Swedish Pensions Agency -220 -213
Total net payments to/from the pension system -3,788 -1,240

Profit/loss for the year 22,638 -5,483

Fund capital at 31 Dec 232,956 214,106

 nOTe 18 Memorandum items

PLeDGeS AnD eQUiVALenT cOLLATeRAL TO SecURe OWn LiAbiLiTieS

SEK m 31-12-2012 31-12-2011
Pledged assets for buybacks

Collateral received 17,071 8,475
Collateral pledged 3,915 -

Pledged assets for derivatives trading

Cash collateral received 319 0
Cash collateral pledged 186 89

Loaned securities for which collateral received
Loaned securities 12,782 10,085
Cash collateral received 12,756 10,404

The collateral shown above is presented in Notes 11, 13 and 15.

 

OTHeR PLeDGeS AnD eQUiVALenT cOLLATeRAL

SEK m 31-12-2012 31-12-2011
Securities loaned against collateral in securities

Loaned securities 8,989 4,742
Collateral received in securities 10,747 4,911

OUTSTAnDinG cOmmiTmenTS

SEK m 31-12-2012 31-12-2011
Unlisted equities 1,892 3,211
Real estate and timberland funds 1,458 947

 nOTe 19 Related party transactions

AP3 rents its office space from Vasakronan at market rates.

 nOTe 20 Currency exposure

ASSETS SUBJECT TO CURRENCY EXPOSURE AT 31-12-2012
SEK m eUR GbP JPY USD Other Total
shares and investments 15,969 10,364 5,581 34,542 25,618 92,072
Exposure to SEK-listed companies with foreign domicile1 357 500 - 317 770 1,944
Bonds and other fixed income securities 7,223 2,336 - 10,647 - 20,206
Derivatives 43 1 104 25 52 225
Other investment assets -4,802 450 100 2,285 2,920 953

Foreign currency exposure, gross 18,791 13,651 5,784 47,815 29,360 115,401

Currency hedges -10,627 -10,343 -3,222 -36,994 -919 -62,105

Total currency exposure 8,163 3,308 2,562 10,820 28,441 53,295

ASSETS SUBJECT TO CURRENCY EXPOSURE AT 31-12-2011
SEK m eUR GbP JPY USD Other Total
shares and investments 14,530 10,431 5,413 33,444 23,352 87,170
Exposure to SEK-listed companies with foreign domicile1 589 718 - 262 751 2,320
Bonds and other fixed income securities 5,603 2,334 - 13,726 68 21,731
Derivatives 42 - -2 -22 -91 -73
Other investment assets -2,924 -9 48 1,745 1,995 855

Foreign currency exposure, gross 17,840 13,474 5,459 49,155 26,075 112,003
Currency hedges -18,794 -7,326 -3,819 -37,030 -1,318 -68,287

Total currency exposure -954 6,148 1,639 12,125 24,757 43,715

1 This holding is classified as a currency exposure due to legal requirements. 
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 nOTe 21 Financial instruments, price and valuation hierarchy

inVeSTmenT ASSeTS PeR VALUATiOn cATeGORy AT 31 Dec 2012

SEK m

Observable 
prices in an 

active market

Valuation  
model with 
observable 
input data

Valuation 
model with 

non-observable 
input data Total  

Listed equities 
and investments 112,954 112,954
Unlisted equities 
and investments 1,709 23,103 24,812
Bonds and other 
fixed income assets 92,766 3,116 3,344 99,226
Derivatives, positive 
market value 157 2,407 2,564
Total investment 
assets 205,877 7,232 26,447 239,556
Derivatives, 
negative market 
value -26 -488 -41 -555
Total 205,850 6,744 26,407 239,001

inVeSTmenT ASSeTS PeR VALUATiOn cATeGORy AT 31 Dec 2011

SEK m

Observable 
prices in an 

active market

Valuation  
model with 
observable 
input data

Valuation 
model with 

non-observable 
input data Total  

Listed equities 
and investments 107,087 107,087
Unlisted equities 
and investments 21,346 21,346
Bonds and other 
fixed income assets 85,843 1,793 5,441 93,077
Derivatives, positive 
market value 33 1,769 1,802
Total investment 
assets 192,963 3,562 26,787 223,312
Derivatives, 
negative market 
value -144 -2,621 -9 -2,774

Total 192,818 941 26,778 220,538

CHANGE IN ASSETS UNDER VALUATION MODEL WITH NON-OBSERVABLE INPUT 
DATA 2011-2012

SEK m

Listed 
shares and 

invest-
ments

Unlisted 
shares and 

investments

bonds 
and other  

fixed income 
assets Derivatives Total

carrying amount  
at 1 Jan 21,346 5,441 -9 26,777

Invested 3,929 776 - 4,705
Sold/repaid  
during year -1,101 -1,375 - -2,476
Realised change  
in value 72 0 - 72
Unrealised change 
in value 569 3 -32 541
transfer from  
level 1 or 2 - - - - 0
transfer to  
level 1 or 2 - -1,712 -1,500 - -3,212
carrying amount  
at 31 Dec - 23,103 3,345 -41 26,407

AP3 measures all holdings at fair value using a hierarchy of price sources and 
measurement methods. Fair value is defined as the amount for which an asset 
could be sold or a liability settled in a normal transaction between market 
players on the valuation date. 

Holdings shown in the benchmark indices that AP3 uses for liquid invest-
ments in equities and fixed income securities are measured initially at the 
prices stated by index vendors. Where such holdings are not included in an 
index or the index vendor’s price is not deemed to be reliable, measurement 
is at list prices observable in an active market. This is always the preferred 
measurement option and applies to the majority of AP3’s assets. When it is 
not available, however, AP3 uses the next step in the valuation hierarchy.

Reliable listed prices are unavailable for some holdings, notably some fixed 
income securities and most derivatives not traded over an exchange or hand-
led by a clearing house. Measurements are based on generally acceptable 
models that use observable market data to establish fair value. Valuation risk 
for this group is regarded as limited. this group also includes certain types of 
transaction in which AP3 relies on price information from one or more exter-
nal counterparties to identify fair value. In the case of assets whose price is 
deemed unreliable, for instance due to low market activity, the Fund obtains a 
third-party valuation to test the reasonableness of its own valuation.

some holdings must be valued using models based on non-observable 
market data. These are subject to a higher degree of subjective assessment 
and hence higher uncertainty. In AP3’s case, these relate mostly to private 
equity funds and holdings of unlisted equities in real estate companies.

AP3 measures private equity fund holdings using valuations received from 
external managers. AP3 requires that fund managers comply with IPEV valua-
tion principles and that their funds are reviewed by an established audit firm.
Valuations from fund managers are usually received 90 days after the end of 
the quarter, which means that the declared values of AP3’s holdings as of 31 
December are based on fund managers’ reports dated 30 September adjusted 
for cash flow during the fourth quarter. AP3 assesses the reliability of these 
valuations to determine whether any adjustments are necessary to achieve 
a more accurate fair value. no adjustments were deemed necessary as of 31 
December 2012. 

The table provides a schedule of all AP3’s investment assets by valuation 
category. Some 86% (87) of these assets can be valued at observable prices 
in an active market. A 10% write-down of the hardest-to-value assets – those 
with a valuation model with non-observable input data – would reduce AP3’s 
fund capital by 1.1 percentage points. AP3 has limited valuation risk.

nOTeS TO THe finAnciAL STATemenTS
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 nOTe  22 Financial risk

RiSK meASUReD AS VALUe AT RiSK fOR THe AP3 PORTfOLiO in 2012

SEK m
minimum 

level
maximum 

level Average 31 Dec   31 Dec1 
Equity risk 980 2,327 1,683 1,029 1,757
Interest rate risk 64 207 110 83 141
Currency risk 327 611 464 327 559
Other 33 154 86 35 60
Diversification -448 -1,096 -790 -449 -767
Total 956 2,203 1,554 1,025 1,750

RiSK meASUReD AS VALUe AT RiSK fOR THe AP3 PORTfOLiO in 2011

SEK m
minimum 

level
maximum 

level Average  31 Dec   31 Dec1 
Equity risk 838 3,648 1,947 2,308 2,613
Interest rate risk 106 356 182 116 131
Currency risk 278 661 406 502 568
Other 20 157 66 94 106
Diversi fication -530 -1,554 -884 -946 -1,072
Total 712 3,268 1,717 2,073 2,347

1 With equally weighted historic data.

DAILY VALUE AT RISK (VAR) FOR THE AP3 PORTFOLIO 2012  

SEK m

Simple sensitivity analysis can be used to increase our understanding of how 
changes in different asset prices would impact on Fund income based on 
outstanding positions in different assets. A 5% change in all equity prices would 
change the value of the AP3 equity portfolio by SEK 8,121 million. A change of 1 
percentage point in all fixed income securities – known as a parallel shift of the 
yield curve – would result in a change in value of SEK 2,644 million. Likewise, 
a 5% change in all exchange rates versus the krona would result in a change in 
value of SEK 2,667 million. A sensitivity analysis does not consider the proba-
bility of any event occurring and takes no account of any correlation between 
different assets.

AP3’s holdings are exposed to market and credit risks that can result in changes 
in value when equity prices, fixed income yields, credit spreads and currency 
rates change. AP3 uses value at risk (VaR) to aggregate risk across all risk cat-
egories. At year-end the Fund’s risk measured as VaR totalled SEK 1,025 million 
(2,073) for the total portfolio. AP3 measures VaR with a 95% level of confidence 
and a horizon of one day, meaning that negative changes in value should not 
exceed VaR on 19 days out of 20, assuming that market conditions follow 
historical patterns. AP3 bases VaR estimates on historic market data dating back 
360 days. Historic data are weighted exponentially, meaning that market events 
in the preceding 80 days have overriding influence. The measurement method 
used is known as Monte Carlo simulation and is a random simulation of chang-
es in value based on historic data. the table shows VaR at 31 December. Historic 
data are equally weighted, meaning that every day has equal significance.

AP3’s risk measured as VaR varied from SEK 956 million to SEK 2,203 million 
in 2012. Changes in the level of risk were due primarily to changes in market 
volatility, and to a lesser extent to changes in portfolio structure. The diversifi-
cation effect indicates how the different types of risk in the portfolio contribute 
to reducing overall risk.

The table above shows VaR for the AP3 portfolio by risk type rather than instru-
ment or investment type. Risk exposure by risk category is shown on page 25.

SimPLe SenSiTiViTy AnALySiS fOR THe AP3 PORTfOLiO AT 31 Dec 2012

SEK m
8,121

Rise of 5% in all 
share prices

Fall of 1 percentage point 
in rates on all currencies 

and maturities

Rise of 5% in all 
currencies versus the 

swedish krona

2,644 2,667
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Credit risk in the AP3 portfolio for fixed income receivables and derivatives can 
be described by examining how exposure is allocated across different rating 
categories. The table below shows that 73% of the Fund’s credit risk exposure 
is to counterparties assigned ratings of between Aaa and Aa by Moody’s. AP3 
reduces its credit risk exposures in respect of buybacks and derivatives by 
insisting on collateral covering all or part of the counterparty’s liability.

eXPOSURe TO cReDiT RiSK AT 31 Dec 20121                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                               CReDIt RAtInG

SEK m Aaa Aa A Baa ‹Baa32 
Government bonds 48,458 1,985 334 259
Mortgage bonds 15,779 418 77 2
Corporate bonds 767 1,733 4,902 4,078 6,008
Deposits and buybacks 853 5,007 13,591
Derivatives, net 
receivable 500 1,432
Gross exposure 65,857 9,642 20,336 4,337 6,011
Collateral received 4,534 5,074
net exposure 65,857 5,109 15,261 4,337 6,011

eXPOSURe TO cReDiT RiSK AT 31 Dec 20111

                                                                                                                CReDIt RAtInG

SEK m Aaa Aa A Baa ‹Baa32 
Government bonds 39,443 4,592 2,625 696
Mortgage bonds 19,568 188 99 6
Corporate bonds 708 2,039 2,507 4,625 2,616
Deposits and buybacks 755 1,631 11,006
Derivatives, net 
receivable 27 619
Gross exposure 60,474 8,479 16,855 4,625 3,318
Collateral received 1,200 8,299
net exposure 60,474 7,279 8,556 4,625 3,318

1 Includes investments in listed fixed income securities; deposits and buybacks; non-cleared 
derivatives where AP3 has a claim on the counterparty; and repayments of collateral for 
securities lending.

2 Also includes unrated securities.

AP3’s liquidity risk is limited by the National Pension Funds Act, which requires 
the AP funds to hold at least 30% of their fund capital in fixed income securi-
ties with low credit and liquidity risk. AP3’s holdings in this category averaged 
32.5% of fund capital in 2012.
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signatures of Board of Directors and CeO

Stockholm, 19 February 2013

Pär nuder, Chairman              Björn Börjesson, Deputy Chairman

sonat Burman-Olsson              Inga-Lill Carlberg              Gunvor engström

Lars Ernsäter            Peter Hellberg            Kari Lotsberg

elisabeth Unell              Kerstin Hessius, CEO

Our auditors’ report was submitted on 19 February 2013.

 Peter strandh
Authorised public accountant

 Appointed by the government 

Jan Birgerson
Authorised public accountant
Appointed by the government

SIGNATURES OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS, CEO AND AUDITORS
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AUDiTOR’S RePORT

Auditor’s report
For the Third Swedish National Pension Fund, corporate identity number 802014-4120 

Report on the annual accounts
We have audited the annual accounts of the third swedish 
National Pension Fund for the year 2012. The annual ac-
counts of the fund are included in the printed version of this 
document on pages 23 - 43.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and  
the Managing Director for the annual accounts
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 
responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
these annual accounts in accordance with the swedish 
National Pension Funds Act, and for such internal control as 
the Board of Directors and the Managing Director determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual 
accounts based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing and 
generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical require-
ments and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the annual accounts are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual 
accounts. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the annual accounts, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the fund´s preparation 
and fair presentation of the annual accounts in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of account-
ing policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
annual accounts.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinions
In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared 
in accordance with the Swedish National Pension Funds 
Act and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Third Swedish National Pension Fund as of 31 
December 2012 and of its financial performance  for the year 
then ended in accordance with the Swedish National Pension 
Funds Act. The statutory administration report is consistent 
with the other parts of the annual accounts.

We therefore recommend the income statement and 
balance sheet to be adopted.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and  
the Managing Director
Our responsibility is to express an opinion with reasonable 
assurance from the result of our audit and inventory of the 
assets managed by the fund and the administration in gen-
eral. We conducted the audit in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden.
As a basis for our opinion on the inventory of the assets we 
have audited the fund´s statement of assets and a sample of 
supporting documents. 

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion with reasonable 
assurance from the result of our audit and inventory of the 
assets managed by the fund and the administration in general. 
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden.

As a basis for our opinion on the inventory of the assets we 
have audited the fund´s statement of assets and a sample of 
supporting documents. 

As a basis for our opinion concerning discharge from 
liability, in addition to our audit of the annual accounts, we ex-
amined significant decisions, actions taken and circumstances 
of the fund in order to determine whether any member of the 
Board of Directors or the Managing Director is liable to the 
fund. We also examined whether any member of the Board of 
Directors or the Managing Director has, in any other way, acted 
in contravention of the Swedish National Pension Funds Act.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Opinions
the audit has not given rise to any remarks regarding the inven-
tory of the assets or otherwise regarding the administration.

Stockholm, 19 February 2013

Jan Birgerson
Authorized Public Accountant

Appointed by the Government   

Peter strandh
 Authorized Public Accountant
Appointed by the Government   
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AP3 Since incePTiOn in 2001

AP3 Since incePTiOn in 2001
Since 2001, AP3 has operated under a parliamentary mandate to manage its fund capital in the best 
interests of the income pension system. AP3 aims to achieve its target of an average real return of 4% over 
time by investing in a diversified global portfolio of listed equities, fixed income assets and alternative 
investments. 
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Total return after expenses 2001-2012, %

Equity markets experienced three major slumps 
between 2001 and 2012. AP3’s nominal return 
in this period averaged 4% per annum.

Return after expenses 2001-2012, % Pensions and pension credits are indexed 
 annually using the income index. It is there- 
fore important that AP3’s returns at least keep  
pace with the index to ensure we contribute 
positively to the pension system. Since 2001,  
the income index has risen at an average 
 annual rate of 3.2%, while AP3’s nominal  
return has averaged 4% per year. Thus, AP3  
has outperformed the income index during  
this period. Real annual return (adjusted for 
inflation) has averaged 2.5%. 

AP3 CPI +4%

The growth of AP3’s fund capital since inception 
consists of SEK 90,730 million in asset manage-
ment returns and net flows from the pension 
system totalling SEK 8,251 million. Since 2009 
AP3 has been a net contributor to the pension 
system and has thus far paid out a total of SEK 
12,974 million. 

Fund capital since inception in 2001, SEK m

Fund capital at 
inception 2001

Net flows 2001-2012 Total return after 
expenses 2001-2012

Fund capital at 31 
Dec 2012
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Growth of SEK 99 billion in fund capital since 2001
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Between inception in 2001 and the end of 2012, 
AP3’s fund capital rose from SEK 133,975 
million to SEK 232,956 million – an increase of 
SEK 98,981 million.
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY

five-year summary

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

incOme AnD infLOWS
SEK bn
Net flows to/from pension system -3.8 -1.2 -4.0 -3.9 0.9
Profit/loss for the year 22.6 -5.5 18.3 29.4 -44.8

Fund capital at 31 Dec1 233.0 214.1 220.8 206.5 181.0

RETURNS AND EXPENSES, TOTAL PORTFOLIO
%
Return before expenses 10.7 -2.4 9.1 16.4 -19.7
Operating expenses 0.08 0.07 0.07 0.08 0.07
Commission expenses 0.05 0.04 0.07 0.09 0.07
Return after expenses 10.7 -2.5 9.0 16.3 -19.8
Inflation -0.1 2.0 2.3 0.9 0.9
Real return after expenses 10.7 -4.4 6.5 15.3 -20.5
SEK bn
Return after commission expenses 22.8 -5.3 18.5 29.6 -44.6
Operating expenses 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1
Return after expenses 22.6 -5.5 18.3 29.4 -44.8

AnnUALiSeD nOminAL ReTURn AfTeR eXPenSeS
%
Five years (2008-2012) 1.9
Ten years (2003-2012) 6.7

RiSK
Risk (standard deviation) in total portfolio, %2 5.3 9.2 7.0 9.9 16.6
Sharpe ratio in total portfolio 1.8 neg 1.2 2.0 neg
Risk (standard deviation) liquid assets, %2 6.3
Sharpe ratio liquid assets 1.6

cURRency eXPOSURe
% of total portfolio3 22.0 19.3 11.3 8.3 13.8

eXTeRnAL mAnAGemenT
% of total portfolio 35.7 34.8 41.0 40.7 38.8

ASSeT mAnAGemenT eXPenSeS
% of assets under management
Operating expenses 0.08 0.07 0.07 0.08 0.07
Operating expenses + commission expenses 0.14 0.11 0.14 0.17 0.14

No. of employees at 31 Dec 56 57 56 55 50

1 Fund capital at inception on 1 January 2001 was SEK 134 billion.
2 Shown as of 2010 for the total portfolio due to dynamic allocation. Risk for the listed portfolio was shown prior to 2010.
3 Excluding exposure to SEK-listed companies with foreign domicile.   

Change in fund capital

SEK m 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Fund capital at 1 Jan1 214,106 220,829 206,539 181,024 224,897
Net flows -3,788 -1,240 -4,041 -3,906 831
special asset management - - - 0 53
Profit/loss 22,638 -5,483 18,331 29,421 -44,757

Fund capital at 31 Dec 232,956 214,106 220,829 206,539 181,024

1 Fund capital at inception in 2001 was SEK 133,975 million.
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AP3S ROLL i PenSiOnSSySTemeT fOcUS: AP3’S PORTfOLiO in 2012
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Return and risk in the AP3 portfolio at 31 Dec 2012

Inflation 

16.5

6.7

9.9

Market value per asset category

SEK bn 31-12-2012 31-12-2011 31-12-2010 31-12-2009 31-12-2008

LISTED EQUITIES1 sweden 26.2 28.7 32.0 26.5 17.9
europe 25.5 25.6 24.4 25.5 20.8
north America 29.3 27.1 25.2 24.1 25.7
Asia 11.8 10.6 16.4 15.2 13.6
emerging markets 14.3 13.1 12.8 11.5 5.9

Total listed equities 107.2 105.1 110.8 102.7 83.9

FIXED INCOME1

nominal sweden 54.2 41.7 31.6 13.6 13.7
eurozone 2.5 0.6 14.9 12.5 12.4
UK 2.4 2.3 4.7 4.4 4.5
UsA 12.4 11.8 9.1 20.3 16.8
Asia 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.2 5.5

Index-linked bonds sweden 15.3 17.1 1.5 0.1 5.4
eurozone 2.8 0.6 1.4 4.7 4.8
UsA 0.0 3.6 12.3 9.5 3.9

Total fixed income 89.5 77.6 75.4 70.2 67.0

ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS1

Real estate shares and promissory notes in 
Vasakronan 8.4 7.7 7.0 6.6 7.0
shares and promissory notes in  
Hemsö Fastigheter 3.2 2.6 2.1 2.3 -
swedish mortgage bonds - - 3.4 3.4 6.2
timberland and agricultural land 4.2 4.0 3.2 2.9 2.3
International real estate funds 3.8 1.4 1.2 0.9 0.7

Total real estate 19.6 15.7 16.9 16.0 16.2

Private equity2 11.4 11.5 10.9 9.8 10.8

new strategies2, 3 - - 6.9 7.7 3.1

Other assets4 5.2 4.2 - - -

Total alternative investments 36.3 31.4 34.7 33.6 30.2

TOTAL 233.0 214.1 220.8 206.5 181.0

1 Cash used for position-taking in futures has been allocated between the relevant asset categories, which means the figures in the table are not fully comparable with those in the balance sheet. 
2 Unlisted equities were included in listed life science holdings prior to 2008. As of 2008, life sciences are part of new strategies.                                                                                                                                                                                                          
3 New Strategies were allocated between the various asset categories during 2011. Investments not qualifying for a specific category are classified as other assets.
4 Other assets include investments in convertible bonds and insurance-related risk.         

1The share of total return is measured as the contribution of each risk category relative to the aggregate contribution of all risk categories, irrespective of whether the figures 
are positive or negative.
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fOcUS: AP3’S PORTfOLiO in 2012

Allocation of fund capital between internal and external management mandates at 31 Dec 2012

Mandate Market value, SEK m Share of fund capital, %

eXTeRnAL DiScReTiOnARy mAnDATeS
equity mandates
Passive mandates
Blackrock Investment Management europe – small cap 2,497
Blackrock Investment Management Japan 5,622
Blackrock Investment Management Asia-Pacific 3,443
Blackrock Investment Management North America – Large cap 5,135
Blackrock Investment Management North America – Mid cap 3,855
Blackrock Investment Management north America – small cap 4,642
Enhanced mandates
Blackrock Investment Management North America – Large cap 9,205
Intech Investment Management North America – Large and mid cap 2,147

Fixed income mandates
Active mandates
Guggenheim Investment Management UsA - High yield 747

37,292 16%

fUnD inVeSTmenTS
Listed assets
Equity funds 15,929
Fixed income funds 3,430
Absolute return strategies and hedge funds 9,155
Unlisted assets
Private equity funds 11,374
Real estate funds 2,831
timberland funds 3,069

45,789 20%

inTeRnAL mAnAGemenT mAnDATeS
Listed equities 54,815
Fixed income and credits 75,758
Convertible bonds 2,511
Insurance-related risk 2,722
Unlisted holdings in real estate companies 12,765

148,570 64%

OTHeR ASSeTS AnD LiAbiLiTieS1 1,301 1%

TOTAL fUnD cAPiTAL 232,956 100%

1 Consist primarily of cash and currency hedges.

Ten largest holdings in the AP3 equity portfolio at 31 Dec 2012

Company Market value, SEK m
Hennes & Mauritz 2,535
ericsson 1,809
Atlas Copco 1,725
Volvo 1,672
nordea 1,379
sandvik 1,144
teliasonera 1,056
Investor 1,026
swedbank 960
svenska Handelsbanken 860

Ten largest recipients of brokerage fees in 2012

Carnegie Goldman sachs sanford s. Bernstein
Citi JP Morgan UBs
Credit suisse neonet
Deutsche Bank nordea

Five counterparties that handled the largest volumes of AP3’s  
fixed income trading in 2012

Danske Bank nordea UBs
JP Morgan seB

Five counterparties that handled the largest volumes of AP3’s 
foreign exchange trading in 2012

Barclays nordea UBs
Deutsche Bank Royal Bank of scotland
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fOcUS: AP3’S PORTfOLiO in 2012

Alternative investments at 31 Dec 2012

Mandate Description of mandate and management type

Outstanding 
investment  

commitments in SEK m 
at 31 Dec 2012

Market value in SEK m  
at 31 Dec 2012

Unlisted equities Investments are in funds that invest in unlisted equities across different regions and investment 
categories (buyouts and venture capital). Infrastructure assets are included in unlisted equity 
investment commitments and market value.

1,892 11,247

Investments in infrastructure assets are made both in Sweden and internationally 76 1,270

Real estate Real estate investments consist of a 25% holding in Vasakronan, a 50% holding in Hemsö 
Fastigheter, holdings of timberland and agricultural land, and holdings in international real 
estate funds. 

1,458 19,646

Investments in international real estate are made through funds 1,283 3,813

Investments in timberland are made in Sweden and internationally 175 4,048

Details of AP3’s holdings of listed equities, fixed income assets, unlisted equities via private equity funds, and timberland 
and real estate investments can be downloaded from www.ap3.se
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Total investment commitments in unlisted equities at 31 Dec 2012

AP3 invests in unlisted equities through funds and private equity firms. 
Holdings are diversified across regions and investment categories 
(buyouts or venture capital).

SEK m

scandinavia 

 451

Rest of the world

756

europe 

685

Total unlisted equity investments at 31 Dec 2012

SEK m

total invested 
capital 

total distributed 
value1 and  

market value 

16,236

21,725

total  
distributions1  

2001-2012 

Market value 
at 31 Dec 2012

10,478

SEK 16,236 million of AP3’s total investment commitments had been 
invested as of 31 Dec 2012. Holdings including distributions had a total 
market value of SEK 21,725 million.
1 Distributions are repaid invested capital plus capital gains.
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The AP3 real estate portfolio consists of holdings in Vasakronan, Hemsö 
Fastigheter, international real estate funds, and holdings of timberland and 
agricultural land. 
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fOcUS: AP3’S PORTfOLiO in 2012

AP3’s long-term mandate enables us to invest in relatively illiquid assets. These investments help to diversify portfolio risk and raise potential returns 
through liquidity premiums and other advantages. The Fund’s diversification investments consist of private equity funds, real estate, timberland 
and other assets of a more opportunistic nature. Alternative investments rose from SEK 3,752 million in 2001 to SEK 36,253 million in 2012 and at 31 
December 2012 accounted for 15.6% of total investments.
1 “Other assets” were redefined in 2011, resulting in transfers of SEK 2,977 million to listed equities and fixed income receivables.

Diversification in alternative investments 2001-2012 
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AP3’s global diversified portfolio at 31 Dec 2012

AP3 invests in a globally diversified portfolio. The chart below shows investment allocations by 
region and market value at 31 December 2012.
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Absolute return the actual return, in cash or percent-
age terms, that a portfolio generates over a specific 
period.

Absolute risk Variation in absolute returns. Is often 
known as volatility and is measured as standard 
deviation.

Active management Form of management based on 
taking active positions to achieve higher returns than 
the benchmark index. Active positions are taken by 
being overweight or underweight in assets relative to 
the benchmark index or reference portfolio based on 
the projected market outlook.

Alpha Returns that are higher than beta and achieved 
by taking active positions. See Beta.

Automatic balancing Occurs when pension system 
liabilities exceed assets. Balancing involves indexing 
pensions at a lower rate until the system regains 
equilibrium.

Balance figure total pension system assets (excluding 
premium pensions) divided by liabilities. If the bal-
ance figure drops below 1, the automatic balancing 
mechanism is activated. This affects pension indexing. 

Benchmark index Used to evaluate the return on a 
portfolio. Usually takes the form of a standardised 
market index and is also known as the reference 
index. 

beta Sensitivity of a portfolio or equity to equity 
market movements. Beta can also be expressed as the 
return generated by passive exposure to risks such as 
equity risk, credit risk and volatility.

Buffer fund the name for AP1, AP2, AP3, AP4 and 
AP6. The role of the buffer funds is to even out 
temporary variations between pension contributions 
and disbursements and to assist in the long-term 
financing of the pension system.

buyout Acquisition by an entity of a controlling share-
holding in a mature company.

cDS Credit default swap. see Credit swap.

clearing All activities that take place after a transac-
tion is completed in a market and prior to settlement. 
Includes reporting, risk measurement and netting.  

clearing house An institution with regulatory ap-
proval to conduct clearing operations. Most countries 
only have one or very few. In sweden, clearing is via 
the stockholm stock exchange. stockholmsbörsen, 
the exchange operator, acts as counterparty for all 
derivatives traded on the exchange.

cLS Bank owned by currency market counterparties 
and used in most currency transactions for effective 
settlement.

Code of conduct  Group-wide framework of rules and 
systems to manage environmental and social affairs. 

Consultation level A prearranged level for earned 
income in a specific period that triggers a review of 
the agreed strategy in consultation with a superior. 
Where the consultation level is reached, the risk 
mandate is automatically confined to fixed limits to 
offset the risk of losses. 

credit bond Fixed income security that carries a high-
er level of risk than a government bond. Often issued 
by corporations and mortgage lending institutions.

credit swap  Derivative contract between two parties, 
A and B, in which A pays B an interest premium for 
a specific period of time. B only pays a premium to 
A in the event that a predefined asset-related event 
occurs. The size of this premium is the difference be-
tween the nominal underlying value of the derivative 
contract and the market value of the asset in question 
(credit default swap).

cSA agreement Annex to an IsDA agreement that 
regulates how an entity with an outstanding debt 
(unrealised loss) must provide collateral in the form of 
cash or securities.

Currency hedge Neutralisation of currency risk, i.e. 
the risk attached to making investments in currencies 
other than SEK.

Derivative Financial instrument whose price is de-
termined by underlying value. Options, forwards and 
swaps are generally classed as derivatives. The value 
of a derivative depends on changes in the underlying 
value of the instrument.

Distribution Repayment of an invested sum plus 
capital gains.

Duration Used as a measure of interest rate risk and 
is expressed as the average fixed interest period. It 
can be used to estimate changes in value based on 
assumed changes in interest rates.

Forward/future Contract in which counterparties 
undertake to buy or sell an underlying asset at a 
predetermined price and at a prearranged moment 
in time. Examples include currency forwards, interest 
rate forwards, forward rate agreements (FRAs) and 
equity index forwards. 

fund strength Measurement of for how many years 
the buffer funds can meet Sweden’s pension needs in 
the absence of any inflow of pension contributions.

High yield Bonds with a higher credit risk than 
government bonds and that therefore offer higher 
returns. They generally have a lower credit rating than 
investment grade bonds.

index management See Passive Management.

Information radio Efficiency measurement for active 
management. Indicates how much AP3 earns from 
active risk-taking and from deviating from the stra-
tegic portfolio or index. Is measured as active return 
divided by active risk (tracking error). 

Insurance-related bond Bond whose return is con-
nected to exposure against disaster-related risks such 
as hurricanes and earthquakes.

investment grade Bonds which have a credit rating 
of BBB or higher. these are generally associated with 
low credit risk. 

iPeV The International Private Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation Board is an international organisa-
tion for private equity and venture capital firms. It is-
sues valuation guidelines based on IFRS and US GAAP, 
which are seen as industry standards.

iSDA agreement Bilateral agreement between two 
OTC counterparties that regulates the events that 
could generally be expected to occur between them.

Option Entitles the holder to buy or sell an underlying 
asset at a predefined price and moment in time. The 
option issuer has equivalent obligations. Options may 
include currency options, interest rate options and 
share options.

OTc short for over the counter. Refers to contracts 
agreed and settled between two counterparties 
without the involvement of a clearing house.

Overlay mandate A mandate that ties up little or no 
capital and is outside the reference portfolio.

Passive management Asset management that aims 
to achieve an identical return to the benchmark index 
rather than to outperform the index. this is done by 
making investments that mirror a reference portfolio 
or index  and is also known as index management.

Private equity Collective term for equities that are 
not listed on an official or public market. 

Rating Measure of credit worthiness that denotes 
the probability that a counterparty can fulfil its 
commitments. The rating may relate to the coun-
terparty itself or a series of securities issued by the 
counterparty.

Real return Nominal return adjusted for inflation.

Realised volatility See Volatility.

Reference index see Benchmark Index.

Risk-adjusted return A means of evaluating asset 
management performance in which active return 
is considered in relation to the level of risk in the 
portfolio. The Sharpe and information ratios are two 
examples.

Risk budgeting  Adjustment of risk levels across man-
agement mandates based on their expected return 
and correlation to optimise the total risk-adjusted 
return.

Risk capital Generally refers to investments in a 
company’s equity. Relates in practice to investments 
in entities that are not listed on a market, i.e. private 
equity.

Semi-passive index management A management 
style that often has a quantitative orientation and 
that attempts to outperform the index with only a 
small level of active risk. Also called enhanced index 
management.

Sharpe ratio  Measurement of a portfolio’s risk-
adjusted return, i.e. the efficiency of the portfolio.  
It corresponds to portfolio return minus risk-free 
interest divided by the standard deviation of portfolio 
return.

Stop loss A predetermined level of cumulative losses 
over a specific period of time resulting in the immedi-
ate closure of all positions.

Swap Contract in which counterparties agree to 
exchange flows based on an underlying asset and 
under prearranged terms and conditions. Often 
runs for periods of more than 12 months. examples 
include interest rate swaps, currency swaps and total 
return swaps.

Total return swap see swap.

Tracking error Measures the variation in active return 
and is measured as the standard deviation of active 
return. Historic (ex post) tracking error describes the 
variation in realised active return and thus measures 
risk levels retroactively. Projected (ex ante) tracking 
error is a forecast. 

Value at risk (VaR) A common measure of the 
maximum loss that a portfolio can sustain for a given 
period and with a certain level of confidence. VaR is 
calculated daily for a period of one day and with a 
confidence level of 95%. Portfolio management often 
requires changes to the portfolio structure to keep 
this risk of loss at an acceptable level. 

Venture capital Investments made at an early stage 
in a company’s development. Capital invested is often 
used for product or market development.

Volatility A measure of the variation in return. Mea-
sured as the standard deviation of return. Realised 
volatility is measured as historical return.

Volatility strategy Strategy in which projected volatil-
ity for different equity indices is set against realised 
volatility.  

Measures of return and risk

Absolute return (rp)  
Portfolio return

Absolute risk or volatility ( p)  
Standard deviation of portfolio returns

Sharpe ratio (risk-adjusted absolute return) 
Portfolio return minus risk-free  
returndivided by absolute risk

Information ratio (risk-adjusted active return) 
Active return divided by active risk = 

GLOSSARy
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